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Forty three years after its inception, MIECO has cemented its position as one of the  world leaders in the manufacturing
of particleboards with a special emphasis on the production of high quality, value added wood based products.

MIECO’s growth has come from its commitment to five operating and management fundamentals – Maintaining a
framework for establishing Quality Objectives, Identify areas to continually improve the effectiveness of our Quality
Management System, Effective communication on Quality Policy and Quality Objectives to all levels of employees,
Comply with international standards and customer requirements and Organising periodic review of our Quality
Objectives and Procedures for continuing suitability.

In 1998, MIECO attained the Quality Management System which was subsequently upgraded to ISO 9001:2000 in
2002. In 2004, MIECO became the first company in the Malaysian wood-panel industry to receive the prestigious BS
EN ISO 14001:1996 Environmental Management System. In line with this, MIECO attained the certification for OHSAS
18001:1999 in 2005. The BS EN ISO 9001:2000 was upgraded to ISO 9001:2008 in early 2010. The integration of
EMS ISO 14001:2004 and OHSAS 18001:2007 in the same year proved MIECO ’s commitment to being a responsible
manufacturer and employer in the areas of environment, health and safety.

MIECO has three plants located in Semambu, Gebeng and Kechau Tui, Pahang with a combined capacity of more
than 900,000 cubic meters per annum.
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MIECO is committed to the development of its more
than 800 employees, and to building long-lasting
mutually rewarding partnerships with its customers
and stakeholder communities around the world. It is
this commitment that has made MIECO a true global
Malaysian champion.

THE MIECO STORY
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MIECO also has one of the single largest particleboard lines in the Asia-Pacific region, located 
at its plant in Kechau Tui, which started production in March 2005. The plant attained the BS 
EN ISO 9001:2000 Quality Management System in 2005 and the upgraded MS ISO 9001:2008 
Quality Management System in 2011. 

In addition to Malaysia, MIECO products are marketed in more than 20 countries around the 
world, including Indonesia, East Asia and the Indian Subcontinent.

Having started out as a dedicated particleboard producer in 1976, MIECO has now developed 
and expanded into value added products such as Melamine Faced Chipboard, Electron Beam 
Foil Chipboard, Polymer Faced Chipboard, Worktops, Direct Post Formed Boards as well as 
value added services.

All MIECO products conform to international standards such as European Community BS EN 
312 Standard applicable for both moisture-resistant and non-moisture resistant boards with 
Super E0, E0, E1 and E2 formaldehyde emission levels. MIECO E1 products have been 

further refined to meet the United States’ California Air Resource Board Phase 1 & 2 requirements for conformance
to low formaldehyde emissions. In furtherance of its commitment to the environment and to meet the needs and
expectations of customers, MIECO attained the Japanese Industrial Standards Certification, JIS 5908 in April 2009,
evidence of MIECO’s product reliability for the Japanese market. 

Since April 2009, MIECO has been offering customers and consumers the option to choose products from
environmentally and socially responsible and economically viable forestry through its products certified for Programme
for the Endorsement of Forest Certification. MIECO’s melamine laminated products have attained Singapore Green
Label Certification endorsed by Singapore Environment Council certifying MIECO products’ minimal impact to the
overall environment, right from raw materials to the manufacturing process, composition, health impact and finally
the disposal of the products.

MIECO is committed to the development of its more than 800 employees, and to building long-lasting mutually
rewarding partnerships with its customers and stakeholder communities around the world. It is this commitment that
has made MIECO a true global Malaysian champion.
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GROUP CORPORATE STRUCTURE
AS AT 17 APRIL 2015

*Listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE

DATO’ MOHD HANIF BIN SHER MOHAMED
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Dato’ Mohd Hanif Bin Sher Mohamed, a Malaysian, aged 63, was appointed to the Board on 4 November 2013 and
as Chairman on 21 February 2014. He graduated in Banking, Management and Marketing and holds a Master in
Business Administration degree from United Kingdom. He is a member of Australian Management College and British
Institute of Management.

Dato’ Mohd Hanif has vast experience in corporate and consumer banking including strategic planning, risk
management, rehabilitation and restructuring debts. 

He was the former Chief Executive Officer of Credit Corporation (Malaysia) Berhad and Chairman of Entrepreneur
Rehabilitation Fund (Tabung Pemulihan Usahawan). He was also a Board Member of Persatuan Kanak-Kanak Spastik
Selangor & Wilayah Persekutuan and was past President of the Royal Rotary Club of Kuala Lumpur.

Currently, Dato’ Mohd Hanif also sits on the boards of Credit Counselling and Debt Management Agency (AKPK) and
Protasco Berhad.

LT. GEN. (R) DATO’ SERI MOHAMED DAUD BIN ABU BAKAR, 
Independent Non-Executive Director

Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri Mohamed Daud Bin Abu Bakar, a Malaysian, aged 79, was appointed to the Board on 24
March 1997. He graduated from the world-renowned Royal Military Academy, Sandhurst, United Kingdom in December
1956, the Army Staff College, Camberley, United Kingdom and the Royal College of Defence Studies, United Kingdom
and has served the Malaysian Army with distinction for 36 years. During his military career, he was appointed to
various key command and staff appointments both in the field headquarters and in the Ministry of Defence and has
also served in various military committees at national and international levels. 

Currently, Dato’ Seri Mohamed Daud is the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company.

DATO’ DR AMARJIT SINGH A/L SANTOKH SINGH
Independent Non-Executive Director

Dato’ Dr Amarjit Singh A/L Santokh Singh, a Malaysian, aged 65, was appointed to the Board on 3 April 1997. He
graduated as a Doctor with a degree in Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery, from Bombay University, India
in 1973. He also obtained post-graduate certificates in Sports Medicine and Genito-Urinary Medicine from the College
of General Practitioners of Malaysia in 1988 and 1989, respectively. In addition, he is a Fellow of the Royal Society of
Health, United Kingdom. In 1990 he established his own practice in Kuala Lumpur. He has been the Chief Tournament
Physician to the WTA Malaysian Tennis Open since 2010. 

He was a former National Cricket Captain and Deputy President of the Malaysian Cricket Association. He was also
the past President of the Malaysian Association of Sports Medicine as well as the past Chairman of the Society of
Sports Medicine of the Malaysian Medical Association. 

Dato’ Dr Amarjit is currently a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. 
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DIRECTORS’ PROFILE (Cont’d)

MR KRISHNAN A/L PERIYASAMY
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Krishnan A/L Periyasamy, a Malaysian, aged 63, was appointed to the Board on 4 November 2013. He graduated
with a Bachelor of Economics (Accounting) degree from University of Malaya and is a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr Krishnan has more than 30 years of experience in finance, accounting and general management. He joined KPMG
Peat Marwick in 1984 as Audit Senior and rose to the rank of Senior Manager. After about 7 years there, he left to join
commercial sectors. He has worked overseas, including in the United Kingdom and the United States of America for
several years.

Currently, Mr Krishnan is the Chief Executive Officer of BRDB Developments Sdn Bhd’s (“BRDB”) Johor Property
Development Division.    

He also sits on the boards of BRDB and several other private limited companies.

MR LOW KIM SENG
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

Mr Low Kim Seng, a Malaysian, aged 60, was appointed to the Board on 25 April 1991. He is a member of the
Malaysian Institute of Accountants. Mr Low qualified as a Management Accountant in 1978 and has more than 30
years of experience in accounting, corporate finance and general management.  

Mr Low is also a member of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company.



This market optimism benefited export-orientated
furniture manufacturers in Malaysia, resulting in a positive
impact on the particleboard industry. Market prices
appeared to have bottomed out, holding stable at
favourable levels since the 2nd half of 2014.

We too capitalised on the opportunities this market
turnaround provided as we took immediate steps to build
on the strategies we had put in place in recent years.  We
refocused our efforts, in particular in the areas of research
and development, product design, manufacturing and
marketing, placing emphasis on the domestic and Asian
markets.

The challenging business conditions prior to 2014 also
spurred us to step up cost management efficiencies and
improve the sourcing of raw materials; both of which
showed positive results in 2014.  

These efforts, along with the strength of our brand
reputation for quality and customer service, provided us
a platform to increase selling prices, helping to drive
business growth and deliver a reasonable profit.  

It is therefore with optimism that I present to you, on
behalf of the Board of Directors, the Annual Report and
Audited Financial Statements of the MIECO Group for the
financial year ended 31 December 2014.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
A move to profitability

For the financial year ended 31 December 2014, Group
revenue rose 9%, from RM294.7 million in 2013 to
RM321.9 million, driven by increased sales volume in the
domestic market as well as improved selling prices. 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear shareholders of MIECO,
Particleboard prices began to improve towards the end
of 2013, driven by higher demand and improved
consumer sentiment in Europe and the US, which
resulted in the global furniture industry starting to show
signs of recovery in the 1st half of 2014.



Significantly, the Group posted a pre-tax profit of RM19.4
million in 2014, compared to the RM70.2 million pre-tax
loss in the previous year, marking a turnaround in the
business.

This improved financial performance can be attributed to
several factors, key being MIECO’s continued strong
domestic market presence, lower raw material costs and
improved focus on product quality and customer service,
all of which increased sales volume and helped boost
selling prices of plain boards and value-added products. 

The increased demand also drove plant operations and
production volume, giving us further efficiencies in the
allocation of fixed overhead; this despite higher electricity
tariffs in 2014.

During the year, we disposed of our leasehold industrial
land in Semambu, Pahang together with the factory
buildings erected thereon for a total cash consideration
of RM23 million. A net gain of RM16.1 million was realised

from the disposal. The disposal was
initiated and undertaken with a view of
optimising operational efficiency and
integrating the Semambu and Gebeng
plant operations for longer term cost
savings; a key part of our efforts to
improve cost efficiencies and strengthen
our bottom line.  Whilst this was not an
easy decision to make, we are confident
that we have made the right one, and that
the disposal of this asset will benefit
MIECO over the longer term.

In 2013, as a result of continuing losses
at the Kuala Lipis plant, a non-cash
impairment loss of RM45.8 million was
reported in accordance with the
provisions of the relevant Accounting
Standards. That non-cash impairment
affected the Profit and Loss of the MIECO
Group for 2013 and was reflected in the
RM70.2 million pre-tax loss for 2013. 

Since then, there has been a noticeable
improvement in the performance of the
Kuala Lipis plant in the past year. As
highlighted last year, it is possible to 
write back the impairment provision 
made in 2013 should the performance of 
the plant continues to improve. 

Based on the 2014 performance of the Kuala Lipis plant,
a write-back of a portion of the 2013 impairment loss
provision was possible but the Board took the view not to
recognise this write back until the performance of the
plant is more consistent.

In 2014, the Group also managed to significantly reduce
its debt obligations and paid down the syndicated secured
term loans from RM73.9 million to RM46.7 million. This
was a positive achievement under challenging business
conditions, and was enabled by a robust effort to maintain
and manage working capital at an efficient level and
closely monitoring capital expenditure.

Whilst current indicators point to a turnaround, there are
concerns that this might be for a short period of time.  We
are keeping a close watch on this situation, and are
gearing ourselves for the challenges, whilst building on
the platform that the 2014 performance provided us. 
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Cont’d)
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Improving in a challenging environment

The recent years have been challenging ones for wood-
based manufacturing industries. 

The high demand in the early 2000’s encouraged many
players to expand their production facilities and build up
stock levels, resulting in overcapacity. This put pressure
on margins, and when demand dropped, many were
forced to reduce production capacity and even shut down
their facilities. This in turn reduced supply, and coupled
with growing demand from India and Indonesia, led to the
market selling prices increasing marginally in 2014.

Whilst selling prices are generally dictated by market
forces, the improved selling prices in 2014 may also be
attributed to a concerted effort on MIECO’s part to refocus
our marketing strategy towards improving product quality
and enhancing customer service and the overall
customer retention.

We also took advantage of the more favourable raw
material prices. Due to a slowdown in the rubber industry
and weak rubber prices, most wood concessionaries
were harvesting their plantations for replanting and this
created an opportunity for MIECO to negotiate better
wood prices due to increased supply. Glue prices were
also more favourable to the Group in 2014 as a result of
extensive negotiation with suppliers.

Our production volume in 2014 was higher than the
previous year. Output increased due to better production
planning and efficiency of operations. The plant
improvement programme carried out in 2013, and the on-
going Quality Action Team (“QAT”) Programmes  helped
mitigate the incidence of dust spots, dents and uneven
edges on the particleboards, thereby improving rejection
rates. 

These improvements resulted in cost savings, some of
which partially offset increase in the electricity tariff
imposed in 2014.

Our focus in 2015 is to build on this progress, and
continue to focus on improving our product quality and
our customer service, which will assist us to command a
price premium in this competitive market.

DIVIDENDS

Due to the financial covenants of our existing borrowings,
the Directors are not in a position to recommend the
payment of dividends for the financial year ended 31
December 2014. It is the Board’s intention to resume
payment of dividends as soon as circumstances permit.

OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS
Cautiously optimistic

2014 remained a relatively turbulent year for global
markets, an indication that perhaps the global economy
will not return soon to the pace of expansion seen in the
early 2000’s. 

Under such circumstances, we can expect that moving
forward, interest rates will start to rise, albeit from a low
base at this point in time, leading to subdued private
consumption and low growth rates.

Japan and the Eurozone may be at risk of stagnation;
Japan more so with its high level of public debt and
ageing population. However the outlook is brighter in the
US and the UK, which are putting the crisis years behind
them and achieving relatively decent growth. Slowdown
in growth is also expected in emerging markets such as
China, Russia and Brazil.

The performance of the wood-based manufacturing
industry is closely tied to the recovery of the global
economy, especially that of the US. The recovery of the
US economy will help boost demand, which could off-set
the slowdown in the Eurozone and emerging markets.  

Under such circumstances, we must continue to exercise
caution given the depreciating value of the Malaysian
ringgit, especially against the US dollar, low global crude
prices and fluctuating raw material prices that may
dampen optimism if they move unfavourably – all factors
that make the market a challenging environment.

Despite these concerns, we continue to expect local
particleboard demand to be driven by stronger furniture
exports. This, coupled with the expected increase in
production output arising from plant efficiency, is expected
to spur the growth of Group revenue in 2015.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Cont’d)
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Our strategy to drive this growth will be four-fold:

The first strategy will be to develop new Melamine Faced
Chipboard designs and products such as Miecolite,
developed and launched in 2014.  Our success over the
years has stemmed from our ability to continuously create
new products that meet market demand and trends and
we will focus our efforts on research and development,
as well as product design.  We will also incorporate focus
on the growing demand for products that meet
international green standards.

The second area of focus will be quality – working on
improving our product quality and setting ourselves new
benchmarks, while meeting the standards expected by
key global markets.  

The third strategy will be to improve our agility –
responding more quickly to market changes and
enhancing our customer service on the marketing front. 

And finally, on the manufacturing side, MIECO will
continuously manage cost efficiencies, including the
procurement of key raw materials, as well as improve
productivity and efficiency.

The Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) introduced on 1
April 2015 posed many challenges for a lot of companies
in Malaysia. The implementation of new systems to
capture the nuances of this tax regime and understand
its intricacies will have an impact on the operations of
many companies. 

We have installed a new computer system for this
purpose. Besides enabling full compliance with the
provisions of GST, this system also provides MIECO with
the tools to achieve increased operational control.

Another key event for MIECO in 2015 will be the planned
relocation of the Group’s existing plant in Semambu,
Pahang, given that the land and buildings have been sold.
This relocation is part of the overall strategy of the Group
to rationalise its operations and increase efficiency,
enabling the Group, as indicated earlier, to achieve a
more streamlined production process, which in turn will
secure cost reductions.

Overall, we believe that whilst challenges remain in the
short term due to uncertainty resulting from record low
crude prices, fluctuating currencies and the
implementation of GST, we are cautiously optimistic that
the turnaround of the particleboard industry that we are
currently seeing will hold, giving us the opportunity to
derive results from the business building and optimisation
strategies we have worked hard to put in place in recent
years.

The MIECO brand continues to command a loyal
following, and we believe our twin tracks of great products
backed by excellent customer service will stand us in
good stead.

On behalf of the Board of Directors of MIECO, I would like
to thank the MIECO team, shareholders, business
partners and customers for their steadfast loyalty and
unwavering commitment to the business and brand.  We
have been able to see through challenging times because
of your continued support; thank you for the faith you
place in us.

Also a heartfelt thank you to my fellow Board members,
who have contributed wise counsel and helped us stay
true to our goals.

Thank you.

DATO’ MOHD HANIF BIN SHER MOHAMED
CHAIRMAN

24 April 2015

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Cont’d)
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ENGAGING WITH OUR COMMUNITIES

MIECO has always placed emphasis on its corporate social
responsibility, especially with regard to the continued growth
and nurturing of its employees, as well as the vitality and
success of the communities in which it operates.

TALENT DEVELOPMENT
Building talent for the future

Core to MIECO’s success has been the continued
development of its talent pool over the years.
Understanding this, we place great emphasis on the
training and development of our staff, taking advantage
of the slower market conditions in the recent years to
enhance their skills and knowledge in areas critical to
both their personal development, as well as the growth
of our overall business.

In 2014, a total of 5,033 hours of training was
conducted across the Group.  

Key areas of training continue to be aligned to our on-
going continuous improvement programmes, which
concentrate on modules ranging from Lean Six Sigma,
Excellence 5S for Manufacturing, Failure Mode & Effect
Analysis, Programmable Logic Controller (PLC
Siemens S7) training for engineering staff, to English Communication Skills for clerical staff and Forklift Truck Handling
and Proficiency for forklift drivers.

Our own trainers also conducted several in-house programmes, including modules on Disciplinary Management,
Noise Protection Awareness at the Workplace, Basic Fire-Fighting for our Emergency Response Team members and

Health Awareness Programmes. 

INDUSTRIAL PRACTICAL TRAINING
Exposure to real-world working environments

Understanding the challenges of the global
manufacturing environment, we have always
placed great emphasis on providing future talents
with opportunities for relevant on-the-job training
and knowledge development in the particleboard
manufacturing process. 

Safety Induction with Department of Occupational Safety & Health,
Pahang at Gebeng Plant

Visit by UiTM Jengka students to Gebeng Plant
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Every year, we take in about 40 local students
from various learning institutions such as
Universiti Malaysia Pahang (“UMP”), Institut
Latihan Perindustrian Kuantan, Universiti Kuala
Lumpur, Universiti Malaysia Sabah, Universiti
Teknologi MARA, Politeknik Sultan Haji Ahmad
Shah, Universiti Utara Malaysia, German –
Malaysia Institute and Universiti Putra Malaysia.  

Spending between two to six months with us,
the students have the opportunity for hands-on
learning experiences, to build a better
understanding of the wood-based
manufacturing business, and equipping them
with knowledge that will help them enter the
working world more easily.

Over the past 5 years, MIECO has taken in over 200 students under this industrial training programme.

We also extended the terms of our Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) signed in 2013 with UMP to include
industrial attachment programmes for their students.  This helps build a knowledgeable and skilled workforce amongst
the local community, which we hope will act as a catalyst to spur further economic growth for the region.  Under this
MOU, MIECO has accepted 5 students from UMP to focus on research and development. We will endeavour to offer
such placements annually.

COMMUNITY OUTREACH
Improving the lives of the communities in which we operate

MIECO’s community outreach activities have historically been focused on strengthening our team’s relationships with
those of the communities in which we operate, through events organised between employees and welfare
organisations.  We place particular emphasis on the needs of the younger generation. 

Despite challenging market conditions, we
continued to keep to our community obligations
in 2014. 

A total of 22 community outreach activities were
carried out Group-wide in 2014, including the
donation of RM4,000 worth of food and daily
necessities to workers and members of public
affected by floods at the Kuala Lipis area. We
also provided food relief to our workers who were
affected by floods around Kuantan. 

In addition, we donated RM1,000 to Masjid Balok
Makmur, Pahang, for the purchase of a new
hearse for the local community, and we also
made and donated 3 cabinets to Surau Bukit
Goh, Pahang.

ENGAGING WITH OUR COMMUNITIES (Cont’d)

Visit by Kuantan Forestry Department to Gebeng Plant

Food relief to employees and public affected by flood at Lipis area
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Our Human Resources Department also led efforts to collaborate with Kelab Sukan dan Sosial MIECO (“KSSM”)
and Badan Kebajikan Pekerja Islam MIECO, with our employees taking part in activities such as blood donation
drives, ‘gotong royong’, health awareness programmes, as well as sports competitions between staff and local
communities.

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT PROGRAMMES
Teambuilding for better teamwork

Employee engagement was high
on the agenda in 2014. 

We worked hard to foster closer
ties among the employees, with
KSSM leading the charge. They
developed and managed a year-
long calendar of activities, with
emphasis on providing
employees a variety of different
activities, lots of opportunity to
socialise and engage with each
other, while building a spirit of
camaraderie and belonging.

Throughout the year, the ‘MIECO
Cares’ programme continued to
reach out to employees struck by
illness or injuries, providing them
with support through their
recovery.

ENGAGING WITH OUR COMMUNITIES (Cont’d)

Futsal Competition at Futsal Court, Kg. Gua, Lipis

Bowling Competition at Berjaya Megalanes Bowling Centre, Kuantan



These activities not only benefited the communities in
which MIECO operates; it also provided our employees an
opportunity to ‘give back’, which in turn helped build esprit
de corp and job satisfaction.  Our corporate social
responsibility initiatives in 2015 will be to continue building
on the current programmes, while looking out for new
opportunities to make a difference to the lives of
Malaysians, especially in and around our areas of
operations.

To further drive home the message on the need to
maintain a healthy lifestyle and have regular medical
examinations, a Health Awareness Programme and
Blood Donation drive were organised for the Kuala Lipis
plant in January 2014, with the assistance of Kuala Lipis
Hospital.  A similar programme was undertaken in June
2014 for the Gebeng plant, with the assistance of Tengku
Ampuan Afzan Hospital, Kuantan and Darul Makmur
Medical Centre.

In July 2014, employees from the Gebeng, Semambu
and Kechau Tui plants were treated to a well-attended
‘Majlis Berbuka Puasa’ to usher in the Hari Raya
festivities. 
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ENGAGING WITH OUR COMMUNITIES (Cont’d)

Blood Donation Drive at Lipis Plant

Donation to Kechau Tui residents
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
FINANCIAL STATISTICS 2010-2014

                                                                          2014                  2013               2012                 2011 2010
                                                                     RM'000            RM'000          RM'000            RM'000 RM'000   

ASSETS
Non Current assets

Property, plant and equipment                     400,868              412,258          477,423           480,533 489,406
Deferred tax assets                                                –                    386                 517                  542 491
                                                                                 
                                                                    400,868              412,644         477,940           481,075 489,897

Current assets                                              111,527              104,764          118,569             117,104 85,463
Non-current assets held for sale                             –                 6,405                     –                  220 –

TOTAL ASSETS                                          512,395              523,813          596,509           598,399 575,360

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share capital                                                210,000              210,000          210,000           210,000 210,000   
Reserves                                                       63,567                44,842          108,466            116,483 107,195

Total equity                                                  273,567             254,842          318,466           326,483 317,195

Non-current liabilities                                     56,210                54,504            57,649            157,532 182,560
Current liabilities                                          182,618             214,467          220,394            114,384 75,605

Total liabilities                                              238,828              268,971          278,043           271,916 258,165

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES             512,395              523,813          596,509           598,399 575,360

GROUP RESULTS
Revenue                                                      321,889              294,713          307,691            301,221 174,208

Profit/(loss) before taxation                            19,441              (70,164)           (9,190)              6,508 1,646
Tax (expense)/credit                                        (1,564)                6,539              2,189                   (36) (30)

Profit/(loss) after taxation                                17,877               (63,625)            (7,001)              6,472 1,616

SELECTED RATIOS
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (sen)                8.51                (30.30)            (3.33)               3.08 0.77
Net tangible assets per share (RM)                   1.30                    1.21                1.52                 1.55 1.51
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (Cont’d)
FINANCIAL STATISTICS 2010-2014
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Board of MIECO (“the Board”) is committed to
maintaining an appropriate and sound system of good
corporate governance throughout the Group with the
fundamental objective of protecting and enhancing
shareholders’ value and the financial performance of the
Group. 

Set out below is the Statement on Corporate Governance
for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 outlining
the Group’s application of the principles and
recommendations as set out in the Malaysian Code on
Corporate Governance 2012 and also the relevant
requirements set out in the Main Market Listing
Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
(“Bursa Securities”). 

PRINCIPLE 1 – ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF
THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

Functions Of The Board And Management
The Board is overall responsible for the direction and
control of the Group as it formulates policies, sets
strategic directions and oversees the investments and
operations of the Group. The Board retains full and
effective control over the affairs of the Group and the
Company. 

The Board has established dedicated Board committees
which operate with clear terms of reference to assist the
Board in the execution of its responsibilities. The Board
committees include the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee. The respective
committees have the authority to examine particular
issues and report back to the Board with their
recommendations. The ultimate responsibility for the final
decision on all matters, however, lies with the Board.
Whilst the Board is responsible for creating framework
and policies within which the Group should be operating,
management is accountable for the execution of the
expressed policies and attainment of the Group’s
corporate objectives. This demarcation complements and
reinforces the supervisory role of the Board. 

Roles And Responsibilities
The Board assumes the following principal roles and
responsibilities:
• formulating the business direction and objectives of

the Group;
• reviewing, adopting and approving the Group’s

annual budgets, strategic plans, key operational
initiatives, major investments and funding decisions;

• overseeing the conduct of business of the Group;
• reviewing the risk management process within the

Group;
• assuming responsibility in succession planning

within the Group; and
• reviewing and ensuring the adequacy and

effectiveness of internal control systems and
management information systems to ensure
compliance with applicable standards, laws and
regulations.

Codes And Policies
In defining its roles and responsibilities, the Board has
adopted a Board Charter which sets out the principal role
of the Board, the demarcation of the roles, functions,
responsibilities and powers of the Board committees. The
Group has adopted a Code of Conduct and Ethics for
Directors that sets out the principles and standards of
business ethics and conducts of the Group. The Group
has also put in place a Whistle Blowing Policy which
enables any employee and/or  management of the Group
to seek guidance and express concerns on the reporting
of suspected and/or known misconduct, wrongdoings,
corruption and instances of fraud, waste and/or abuse
involving resources of the Group. 

Strategies Promoting Sustainability
The Board is mindful of the importance of business
sustainability and, in developing the corporate strategy of
the Group, its impact on the environmental, social and
governance aspects are taken into consideration. The
Company’s activities on corporate social responsibilities
for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 are
disclosed on pages 12 to 15 of this Annual Report.   
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Access To Information And Advice
The Directors are given adequate notice of Board
meetings. Board papers together with the agenda are
circulated in a timely manner. This is to ensure that the
Directors are given sufficient time to read the Board
papers and seek any clarification or further details on the
matters to be deliberated before the Board meetings. All
Directors have full and unrestricted access to senior
management for advice and information, and support
services of the Company Secretaries in ensuring the
effective functioning of the Board. The Directors may also
seek independent professional advice in the furtherance
of their duties at the Company’s expense, if required. 

PRINCIPLE 2 – STRENGTHENING COMPOSITION

Board Composition
Following the retirement of Dato’ Sri Yong Seng Yeow as
Managing Director and Director on 31 August 2014, the
Board now consists of five (5) Board members, all of
whom are Non-Executive Directors. Pending the search
for a replacement to fill the position of chief
executive/chief executive officer, Mr Kajendra A/L
Patmanathan, Chief Operating Officer of MIECO, is
overseeing the management and operations of the
Group.

Of the five (5) Non-Executive Directors, three (3) are
independent. The Board is in compliance with the
requirements for one third (1/3) of its members to be
independent as prescribed by the Main Market Listing
Requirements of Bursa Securities. The presence of the
Independent Directors helps in providing independent
and constructive views, advice and opinions to the
benefits of the investors, customers, and other
stakeholders. They also represent the element of
objectivity, impartiality and independence judgement of
the Board. This ensures there is adequate check and
balance at the Board level. A brief profile of each Director
is set out on pages 6 and 7 of this Annual Report.

Board Meetings
The Board meets at least five (5) times a year. Board
meetings are scheduled in advance at the beginning of
each new financial year to facilitate and foster the
Directors’ time planning and commitment to the Company.
Five (5) Board meetings were held during the financial
year under review. The details of attendance of the
Directors are as follows:

Total Number Of 
Name Of Director Meetings Attended

Dato’ Mohd Hanif Bin Sher Mohamed  5/5

Dato’ Sri Yong Seng Yeow 4/5
(retired on 31 August 2014)

Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri Mohamed 5/5
Daud Bin Abu Bakar

Dato’ Dr Amarjit Singh A/L Santokh Singh 5/5

Mr Krishnan A/L Periyasamy 5/5

Mr Low Kim Seng 4/5

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee (“NC”) currently comprises
three (3) Non-Executive Directors: Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri
Mohamed Daud Bin Abu Bakar (Independent Non-
Executive Director), Dato’ Dr Amarjit Singh A/L Santokh
Singh (Independent Non-Executive Director) and Mr Low
Kim Seng (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director).
The NC is charged with the responsibility to oversee
matters including recommendations on suitable
candidates for appointment to the Board and Board
Committees and assessing the effectiveness of the Board
and the contributions of each Director towards the
effectiveness of the Board’s decision making process.  

Board Membership Criteria
The NC is responsible for determining the appropriate
character, skills, and experience for the Board as a whole
and its individual members with the objective of having a
Board with diverse backgrounds and experience in
business. All Directors are expected to be individuals with
integrity, high personal and professional ethics, sound
business judgement, and the ability and willingness to
commit sufficient time to the duties of the Board. 

Gender Diversity
In so far as boardroom diversity concerned, the Board
does not have a specific policy on setting targets for
women candidates. Evaluation of suitability of candidates
is solely based on the candidates’ competency, character,
time commitment, integrity and experience in meeting the
needs of the Company. Nevertheless, the Board will take
note of the requirement on gender diversity when
vacancies on the Board arise. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (Cont’d)
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Board Assessment
The NC has a formal assessment in place to assess the
effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution
of each individual Director. The assessment comprises
Board Assessment and Individual Self-Assessment. The
assessment of the Board is based on specific criteria
covering areas such as board structure, board operations,
board roles and responsibilities and board chairman’s
roles and responsibilities. For individual assessment,
criteria covering contribution to interaction, quality of input
and understanding of role were used.  

Evaluations on the contribution of the Directors and the
effectiveness of the Board were conducted by the NC for
the financial year under review. The NC was generally
satisfied with the performance and effectiveness of the
Board as well as the performance and contribution of
each individual Director. 

Remuneration Policies
The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) is responsible for
reviewing the performance of the Executive Directors and
furnishing recommendations to the Board the
remuneration packages of the Executive Directors. The
RC currently comprises three (3) Non-Executive
Directors: Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri Mohamed Daud Bin Abu
Bakar (Independent Non-Executive Director), Dato’ Dr
Amarjit Singh A/L Santokh Singh (Independent Non-
Executive Director) and Mr Low Kim Seng (Non-
Independent Non-Executive Director). The determination
of the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors is a
matter for the Board as a whole. A sitting allowance is also
paid to Non-Executive Directors for each Board or
committee meeting they attend. All fees payable to the
Directors are subject to shareholders’ approval at the
annual general meeting (“AGM”). For the financial year
ended 31 December 2014, the Board has decided to only
recommend the payment of Directors’ fees to the three (3)
Independent Directors for shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming AGM.

In addition, the Directors have the benefit of Directors &
Officers insurance in respect of any liabilities arising from
their acts committed in their capacities as Directors and
Officers of the Company. However, the said insurance
policy does not indemnify a Director or Officer if he is
proven to have acted fraudulently, or dishonestly, or in
breach of his duty or trust. Details of the Directors’
remuneration for the financial year ended 31 December
2014 are set out in the Annual Financial Statements of
this Annual Report. 

The number of Directors whose remuneration falls within
the following bands is as follows:

Range Of Executive Non-Executive
Remuneration Directors Directors

Below RM50,000 – 4

RM50,001 - RM100,000 – 1

RM450,001 -  RM500,000 1 –

PRINCIPLE 3 – REINFORCE INDEPENDENCE

Assessment Of Independent Directors
Currently, the Company has two (2) long serving
Independent Directors: Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri Mohamed
Daud Bin Abu Bakar and Dato’ Dr Amarjit Singh A/L
Santokh Singh, whose tenure are more than nine (9)
years. The NC has performed a review of the
independence status of these 2 Independent Directors,
and recommended to the Board for them to continue to
act as Independent Directors based on the following
justifications:

(i) they continue to fulfil the criteria under the definition
of Independent Director as stated in the Main Market
Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities; 

(ii) they remain objective and independent in
expressing their views in participating deliberations
and decision making of the Board;

(iii) they have exercised due care and diligence during
their tenure as Independent Non-Executive Directors
of the Company and carried out their fiduciary duties
in the interest of the Company and shareholders.

Position Of Chairman And Managing Director
The Chairman who is an Independent Non-Executive
Director is responsible for leadership, ensuring effective
function of the Board and providing insight over the
operations of the Group. The Managing Director was
responsible for the running of the Group business and
implementation of strategies and policies till his retirement
on 31 August 2014. Pending the search for a chief
executive/chief executive officer, the Chief Operating
Officer of MIECO is overseeing the management and
day-to-day operations of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (Cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE 4 – FOSTER COMMITMENT

Time Commitment
The Directors are expected to give sufficient time and
attention to carry out their responsibilities. Under the
Board Charter, a Director is required to notify the
Chairman before accepting any new directorship in any
other company and the notification shall explain the
expectation and an indication of the time commitment that
will be spent on the new appointment. The Board is
satisfied with the level of time commitment given by the
Directors towards fulfilling their roles and responsibilities.
All the Directors hold not more than five (5) directorships
in public listed companies. 

Directors’ Training
The Directors are mindful that they shall receive
appropriate training to broaden their knowledge and to
keep abreast with the various changes in laws,
regulations and business environment in order to
effectively discharge their duties. The Company
Secretaries co-ordinate training programmes for the
Directors. The Directors are encouraged to determine the
relevant programmes and seminars available that would
be best for them to enhance their knowledge and
contributions to the Board. The Company Secretaries
keep a complete record of the training attended by the
Directors. The Company Secretaries also provide the
Board updates on the relevant guidelines on statutory and
regulatory requirements from time to time. The external
auditors also briefed the Board members on any changes
to the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards that affect
the Group’s financial statements during the year. 

The training programmes and seminars attended by the
Directors during the financial year under review are as
follows:
• Advocacy Sessions On Corporate Disclosure For

Directors Of Listed Issuers
• Overview Of ESG Index & Industry Classification

Benchmark
• Director Breakfast With Beverly Behan “Great

Companies Deserve Great Boards”
• Rethinking Strategy:Has Competitive Advantage

Ended?
• Managing In Uncertainty:Surviving The Turbulence
• HSBC Forum:China Globalising; RM Rising
• The New Companies Bill – Part 2:What You Should

Know And Prepare For

PRINCIPLE 5 – UPHOLDING INTEGRITY IN
FINANCIAL REPORTING

Compliance With Applicable Accounting Standards
In presenting the annual financial statements and
quarterly announcements to shareholders, the Board
takes responsibility to present a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group’s and the
Company’s position and prospects. The Audit Committee
(“AC”) assists the Board in reviewing all the information
disclosed to ensure adequacy, accuracy and integrity
prior to recommending to the Board for approval.

The Directors’ Responsibility Statement in respect of the
preparation of the Annual Audited Financial Statements
is set out on page 31 of this Annual Report.

Independence Of External Auditors
Through the AC, the Company has established a formal
and transparent relationship with the external auditors to
meet their professional requirements. From time to time,
the auditors have highlighted to the AC and the Board
matters that require the AC’s and the Board’s attention.
The AC meets twice a year with the external auditors
without any executive Board member present to enable
exchange of views on issues requiring attention. The
external auditors declare their independence annually to
the AC as specified by the By-Laws issued by the
Malaysian Institute of Accountants. 

PRINCIPLE 6 – RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISKS 

Risk Management Framework 
The Board acknowledges its overall responsibility for
maintaining a sound system of internal control to
safeguard the investment of its shareholders and the
Group’s assets. The key features of the Group’s system
of risk management are set out in the Statement on Risk
Management and Internal Control of this Annual Report. 

Internal Audit Function
The Board has established an independent internal audit
function that reports directly to the AC. This internal audit
function is outsourced to an independent professional
firm, Lefis Consulting Sdn Bhd. Details of the Group’s
internal control system and framework are set out in the
Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control and
the AC Report of this Annual Report. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (Cont’d)
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PRINCIPLE 7 – TIMELY AND HIGH QUALITY
DISCLOSURE

The Board recognises the need for and the importance
of clear and effective communication with shareholders,
institutional investors and the investing public. The Group
communicates with its shareholders and stakeholders
regularly through timely release of financial results on a
quarterly basis, press releases and announcements
which provide an overview of the Group’s performance
and operations and disclosure of material information. In
addition, shareholders and public can access to corporate
information, financial statements, news/events relating to
the Group through the Group’s website at
www.mieco.com.my. Shareholders can also direct queries
to the Company through the contact person or the email
contact provided in the website. 

PRINCIPLE 8 – RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN COMPANY
AND SHAREHOLDERS

The AGM represents the principal forum for dialogue and
interaction with shareholders. At the AGM of the
Company, a review of the progress and performance of
the Group’s business together with an overview of the
Group’s activities are presented to shareholders.
Shareholders are given the opportunity to participate in
the question and answer session on the Group’s
operations and proposed resolutions. The Directors,
senior management and the external auditors are
available to respond to shareholders’ queries during the
AGM.

The rights of shareholders, including the right to demand
for a poll, are found in the Articles of Association of the
Company. At the 41st AGM of the Company held on 19
June 2014, no substantive resolutions were put forth for
shareholders’ approval other than resolutions pertaining
to the adoption of audited financial statements, re-
appointment and re-election of Directors, re-appointment
of external auditors. As such, the resolutions put forth for
shareholders’ approval at the 41st AGM were voted on by
a show of hands. 

ADDITIONAL CORPORATE DISCLOSURE

Share Buybacks
The Company did not buy back any of its shares during
the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

Exercise Of Options, Warrants Or Convertible
Securities 
The Company has not granted any options or issued any
warrants or convertible securities during the financial year
ended 31 December 2014.

Depository Receipt Programme
The Company did not sponsor any depository receipt
programme during the financial year ended 31 December
2014.

Sanctions Or Penalties
There were no sanctions and/or penalties imposed on the
Company and its subsidiaries, Directors or management
by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year
ended 31 December 2014.

Non-Audit Fees
Non-audit fees paid/payable to the external auditors by
the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2014
amounted to RM4,410.00.

Variation In Results
There were no variances of 10% or more between the
audited results for the financial year ended 31 December
2014 and the unaudited results previously announced.  

Profit Guarantee
There were no profit guarantees given by the Company
during the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

Material Contracts Involving Directors’ And Major
Shareholders’ Interests
There were no material contracts entered into by the
Company and its subsidiaries involving Directors’ and
major shareholders’ interests either subsisting as at 31
December 2014 or entered into since the end of the
previous financial year.

This statement was approved by the Board at its meeting
held on 24 April 2015.
   

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (Cont’d)
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  MEMBERSHIP 

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises the following
members:

Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri Mohamed Daud Bin Abu Bakar, 
Independent Non-Executive Director (Chairman)

Dato’ Dr Amarjit Singh A/L Santokh Singh, 
Independent Non-Executive Director (Member)

Mr Low Kim Seng, 
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director (Member)

AUTHORITY AND DUTIES

The details of the terms of reference of the AC are
available for reference at www.mieco.com.my.

MEETING ATTENDANCE

During the financial year ended 31 December 2014, five
(5) AC meetings were held and the details of attendance
of the AC members are as follows:

Number Of AC 
Meetings 

Name Of AC Member Attended

Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri Mohamed 
Daud Bin Abu Bakar 5/5

Dato’ Dr Amarjit Singh 
A/L Santokh Singh 5/5

Low Kim Seng 4/5

The Managing Director, Chief Operating Officer, Financial
Controller and representatives of senior management
attended all the AC meetings by invitation to brief the AC
on specific issues. Internal auditors attended three (3) AC
meetings to present their internal audit reports. The
external auditors were present at two (2) of the AC
meetings where matters relating to the audit of the
statutory financial statements were discussed. The AC
held two (2) private discussions with the external auditors
without the presence of the Executive Directors and
management to exchange views on issues requiring
attention.

The AC Chairman conveyed to the Board matters of
significant concern raised by the external auditors and
internal auditors. Confirmed minutes of AC meetings were
also circulated to the Board for information. 

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES

The AC has carried out its duties in accordance with its
terms of reference during the financial year ended 31
December 2014. The activities carried out by the AC
included the following:

Financial reporting

• reviewed the quarterly unaudited financial results
and year-end audited financial statements of the
Group before recommending them to the Board for
approval, to ensure the financial reporting and
disclosures are in compliance with the provisions of
the Companies Act 1965, Listing Requirements of
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, the applicable
approved accounting standards in Malaysia and
other legal and regulatory requirements;

External audit

• reviewed the 2014 audit plan with the external
auditors, prior to the commencement of the annual
audit as to their scope of work and audit strategy;

• reviewed the results and issues arising from the
external auditors’ audit of the year-end financial
statements and the resolution of issues highlighted
in their report to the AC;

Internal audit

• reviewed the 2014 risk-based internal audit plan with
the internal auditors to ensure adequate scope and
coverage of their activities;

• reviewed internal audit reports with the internal
auditors, especially with regard to the issues raised,
audit recommendations and management’s
response. Where necessary, the AC has directed
action to be taken by management to rectify and
improve the system of internal controls and
procedures;

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT  
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Related party transaction

• reviewed recurrent related party transactions of the
Group;

Others

• reviewed and approved the Audit Committee Report
for inclusion in the Company’s Annual Report;

• held two (2) private discussions with the external
auditors to discuss management cooperation in the
audit process, financial reporting issues, operations,
and for sharing of information. These meetings were
held without the presence of the executive
management. The external auditors were given
direct access to the AC to highlight any issue of
concern at any time. 

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The AC is supported by an internal audit (“IA”) function
which is outsourced to an independent consulting firm.
The IA function provides independent and objective
review on the state of internal control and compliance with
the Group’s policies and procedures in accordance with
the risk-based internal audit plan approved by the AC. The
IA function assists the AC in accomplishing its objectives
by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate
and improve the effectiveness of risk management,
internal control and governance process.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2014, IA
function carried out audit review on internal control,
policies and procedures of the Group covering Customer
Complaints and Repair & Maintenance functions at
Gebeng plant. In addition, the IA function reviewed the
year-end physical inventory count process at Lipis plant
in December 2014. The IA function also monitored
remedial actions taken by management in response to
the recommendations addressing internal control
deficiencies highlighted in the previous year’s internal
audit reports. 

The resulting reports of the audits undertaken,
incorporating audit recommendations and management’s
responses were presented at the quarterly AC meetings
for the AC’s deliberation and issued to the management
of the respective operating units concerned for
appropriate remedial actions to be taken to improve the
relevant systems and procedures. 

There were no material losses incurred during the
financial year as a result of weaknesses in the system of
internal control and management continues to take
appropriate measures to strengthen the control
environment. 

Total costs incurred for the IA function of the Group for
the financial year ended 31 December 2014 amounted to
RM106,691.00.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT (Cont’d)  
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RESPONSILIBITY 

The Board affirms its overall responsibility for maintaining
an adequate and sound risk management and internal
control system within the Group and for reviewing its
adequacy and integrity of such system on a regular basis
to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Group’s
assets. However, in view of the inherent limitations in any
such system, the risk management and internal control
system is designed to manage rather than to eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. Hence,
the risk management and internal control system can only
provide a reasonable combination of preventive, detective
and corrective measures but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement of management and
financial information or against financial losses and fraud.  

Whilst the Board maintains responsibility over risk and
control issues, management is responsible for
implementing policies, procedures and guidelines on risk
and control by identifying and evaluating the risks faced
and design, operate and monitor a suitable system of
internal control to manage these risks.  

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board recognises that risk management is an
integral part of the Group’s business operations and that
the identification and management of such risks are
important to ensure the achievement of the Group’s
corporate objectives. The Group has adopted an ongoing
risk management process for identifying, evaluating,
monitoring and managing significant risks affecting the
achievements of its business objectives.

Regular meetings of the Board, Board committees and
management represent the main platform by which the
Group’s performance and conduct are monitored. The
senior management teams are empowered with the
responsibility of managing their respective operations.
Through regular operational meetings, the senior
management teams identify, discuss and deal with
operational, financial and key management issues.
Significant risks identified are escalated to the attention
of the Board. The Board is responsible for setting the
business directions and overseeing the conduct of the
Group’s operations. With the assistance of the internal
audit (“IA”) function, the Board, through the Audit
Committee (“AC”), continually reviews the adequacy,
effectiveness and integrity of the risk management

processes in place within the various operating
businesses. The AC also reviews and deliberates on any
matters relating to internal controls highlighted by the
external auditors in the course of their statutory financial
audit of the Group. Through these mechanisms, the
Board is informed of all major control issues pertaining to
internal controls, regulatory compliance and risk taking. 

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Group’s IA function is outsourced to a professional
service firm, Lefis Consulting Sdn Bhd (“Lefis”). The
principal duty and responsibility of Lefis is to examine and
evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s
system of internal control, risk management process and
compliance framework on behalf of the Board. The
outsourced IA function carries out internal audits based
on a risk-based audit plan approved annually in advance
by the AC. The IA function provides the AC on a quarterly
basis, the results of the internal audit reviews and the
recommendations for improvements. Follow-up reviews
on the previous audit reports are carried out to ensure
appropriate actions have been taken by management to
address the weaknesses highlighted. Based on the
internal audit reviews carried out, none of the
weaknesses noted by the IA function have resulted in any
material losses, contingency or uncertainties that would
require disclosure in this Annual Report.

KEY ELEMENTS OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM

The key elements of the Group’s internal control system
include the following:

• The Board is supported with several established
Board committees in the execution of its
responsibilities namely the AC, Nomination and
Remuneration Committees. Each Committee has
clearly defined terms of reference. These
committees have the authority to examine all matters
within their scope and report to the Board with their
recommendations.

• There is an organisational structure with formally
defined lines of responsibility and delegation of
authority to ensure proper identification of
accountabilities and segregation of duties.  

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 
AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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• The Group has a defined Authority Chart that
specify clear division and delegation of
responsibilities from the Board to members of
management and the authorisation levels for various
aspects of operations. 

• There are documented internal policies and
procedures covering the critical and significant
facets of the Group’s business processes and they
form an integral part of the internal control
framework to safeguard shareholders’ investment
and the Group’s assets against material loss. These
policies and procedures are reviewed and updated
from time to time to meet the operational needs.
Common Group policies are available on MIECO’s
intranet for easy access by staff.

• Human resource policies and guidelines are
established to provide support to the Group’s vision.
These policies provide guidance to employees on
areas such as discipline, employee performance
appraisals and other related matters. On-going
training and development programmes are
conducted to improve and enhance employees’
competencies and skills. 

• The Group adopts a strategic planning, annual
budgeting and target setting process that includes
forecasts for each area of business. The Board
reviews and approves the Annual Management Plan
and Budget. The Board’s evaluation includes
assessment of risks and opportunities identified by
management in the course of the annual budgeting
process. Monthly reporting of actual results and
review against budget is prepared for monitoring by
management. 

• The Group continues to maintain MIECO Quality
Management System, Environmental Management
System and Occupational Health and Safety
Management System certifications. The business
operations of the Group are also governed by
various regulations and laws applicable to wood
industry. Compliance audits are regularly conducted
by various independent bodies for the various
certifications and licences obtained from the local
governmental authorities and certain multinational
certification bodies.

• There are adequate insurance coverage and
physical safeguards on major assets to ensure that
the assets of the Group are sufficiently covered
against any mishap that could result in a material
loss. An annual insurance review exercise is
undertaken in which management reviews the
relevance and adequacy of the insurance coverage.

• Internal control requirements are embedded in the
Group’s computerised systems as well.

During the financial year under review, some areas for
improvement in the risk management and internal control
system were detected. Management has been responsive
to the issues raised and has taken appropriate measures
to address the areas for improvement that have been
highlighted. The issues raised were mainly operational
and have negligible impact on the operational results of
the Group.

The monitoring, review and reporting arrangements in
place provide reasonable assurance that the structure of
control and its operations are appropriate to the Group’s
operations and that risks are at an acceptable level
throughout the Group’s businesses. Such arrangements,
however, do not eliminate the possibility of human error,
deliberate circumvention of control procedures by
employees and others or the occurrence of unforeseen
circumstances. 

The Board recognises the need for the risk management
and internal control system to be subject to periodic
review in line with the growth and dynamics of the Group.
To this end, the Board remains committed towards striving
for continuous improvement to put in place appropriate
action plans where necessary, to further enhance the risk
management and internal control system of the Group.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 
AND INTERNAL CONTROL (Cont’d)  
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REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS

As required by Paragraph 15.23 of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, the
external auditors have reviewed this Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control. Their limited assurance
review was performed in accordance with Recommended Practice Guide ("RPG") 5 (Revised) issued by the Malaysian
Institute of Accountants. RPG 5 (Revised) does not require the external auditors to form an opinion on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system of the Group. 

CONCLUSION

The Board has received assurance from the senior management that the Group’s risk management and internal
control system is operating adequately and satisfactorily, in all material aspects, based on the risk management and
internal control system of the Group. The Board is of the view that the risk management and internal control system
in place for the year under review and up to the date of the issuance of the financial statements is adequate and
effective to safeguard the shareholders’ investment, the interests of customers, regulators and employees, and the
Group’s assets. 

This statement was approved by the Board at its meeting held on 24 April 2015.

STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT 
AND INTERNAL CONTROL (Cont’d)  
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The Directors are required by the Companies Act 1965 (“CA”) to prepare financial statements for each financial year
which have been made out in accordance with the requirements of the applicable approved Malaysian Financial
Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards, the provisions of the CA and the Main Market
Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the annual audited financial statements of the Group and of the
Company are prepared with reasonable accuracy from the accounting records of the Group and of the Company so
as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at the end of the financial
year, and of the results and cash flows of the Group and the Company for the financial year.

In preparing the annual audited financial statements, the Directors have:

• applied the appropriate and relevant accounting policies on a consistent basis;

• made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

• prepared the annual audited financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors are also responsible for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of
the Group and of the Company to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE ANNUAL AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors hereby submit their annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of
the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and provision of management services.

The principal activities of the subsidiaries consist of manufacturing, selling and marketing of chipboards and
related products as shown in Note 7 to the financial statements.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
Group Company
RM'000 RM'000

Net profit/(loss) for the financial year 17,877 (3,042)

DIVIDENDS

No dividend had been paid or declared by the Company since 31 December 2013.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2014.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

All material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year are shown in the financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who have held office during the period since the date of the last report are as follows:

Dato’ Mohd Hanif Bin Sher Mohamed
Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri Mohamed Daud Bin Abu Bakar
Dato’ Dr. Amarjit Singh A/L Santokh Singh
Krishnan A/L Periyasamy
Low Kim Seng
Dato’ Sri Yong Seng Yeow (Retired on 31 August 2014)
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Cont’d)

DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

In accordance with Article 81 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Low Kim Seng retires by rotation and being
eligible, offers himself for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri Mohamed Daud Bin Abu Bakar retires pursuant to Section 129 of the Companies Act 1965 at
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and offers himself for re-appointment in accordance with Section 129 of the
Companies Act 1965 to hold office until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

During and at the end of the financial year, no arrangement subsisted to which the Company is a party, being
arrangements with the object or objects of enabling Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other
than Directors’ remuneration disclosed in Note 27 to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the
Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in
which he has a substantial financial interest except that certain Directors have employment relationships with certain
related corporations and have received remuneration in that capacity.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 

According to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, the interests of Directors in office at the end of the financial
year in shares in the Company during the financial year were as follows:

Shares Held in the Company
Number of ordinary shares of RM1 each

At At
1.1.2014 Bought Sold 31.12.2014

Direct interest

Low Kim Seng 10,000 0 0 10,000
Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri Mohamed Daud Bin Abu Bakar 16,000 0 0 16,000
Dato’ Dr. Amarjit Singh A/L Santokh Singh 100,000 0 0 100,000

Indirect Interest

Dato’ Dr. Amarjit Singh A/L Santokh Singh(1) 70,000 0 0 70,000

(1) Indirect interest held through spouse

Other than as disclosed above, none of the other Directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest
in shares in the Company during the financial year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Cont’d)

STATUTORY INFORMATION ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:

(a) to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance for
doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate
allowance had been made for doubtful debts; and

(b) to ensure that any current assets, other than debts, which were unlikely to be realised at their book values in the
ordinary course of business had been written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances:

(a) which would render the amounts written off for bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; or

(b) which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company misleading; or

(c) which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group
and of the Company misleading or inappropriate.

No contingent or other liability has become enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable, within the period of twelve
months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the Directors, will or may substantially affect the
ability of the Group or of the Company to meet their obligations when they fall due.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:

(a) any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year
which secures the liability of any other person; or

(b) any contingent liability of the Group or of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or
the financial statements which would render any amount stated in the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company misleading.

In the opinion of the Directors:

(a) the results of the Group’s and of the Company’s operations during the financial year were not substantially
affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature, except as disclosed in Note 13 to
the financial statements; and

(b) there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item,
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of
the Group or of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made, except as disclosed in Note 34
to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Cont’d)

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Proposed disposal by BRDB Developments Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as Bandar Raya Developments Sdn. Bhd.)
[“BRDB”] of shares in the Company

On 21 January 2015, BRDB, the immediate holding company, entered into a Conditional Letter of Agreement with
Purnama Kuantum Sdn. Bhd. (“PKSB”) for the proposed disposal of 119,193,971 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in
the Company (“MIECO Shares”) to PKSB. The proposed disposal is conditional upon:

(i) the approval of Securities Commission Malaysia (“SC”) under paragraph 21.1 of Practice Note 9 of the Malaysian
Code on Take-overs and Mergers 2010 for PKSB to be exempted from the obligation to undertake a mandatory
offer to acquire all the remaining ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the Company which are not already held by
PKSB arising from its proposed purchase of the MIECO Shares (“Proposed Exemption”); and

(ii) the relevant consents of the banks of the Group and BRDB.

On 25 February 2015, PKSB obtained approval from the SC for the Proposed Exemption. As at the date of the issuance
of this report, the relevant consents of the banks of the Group and BRDB are still pending.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a public limited liability company, which is incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia, and listed on the
Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

The immediate holding company is BRDB Developments Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as Bandar Raya Developments
Sdn. Bhd.) and the ultimate holding company is Ambang Sehati Sdn. Bhd., both of which are incorporated in Malaysia. 

The address of the registered office is Level 11 Menara BRDB, 285 Jalan Maarof, Bukit Bandaraya, 59000 Kuala
Lumpur.

The addresses of the principal place of business are as follows:

(a) Level 9 Menara BRDB, 285 Jalan Maarof, Bukit Bandaraya, 59000 Kuala Lumpur;

(b) Lot 77-83, Kawasan Perindustrian Semambu, P.O. Box 169, 25720 Kuantan, Pahang Darul Makmur;

(c) Lot 74, Kawasan Perindustrian Gebeng, 26080 Kuantan, Pahang Darul Makmur; and

(d) Lot 3, Kawasan Perindustrian Kechau Tui, 27100 Padang Tengku, Pahang Darul Makmur.
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AUDITORS

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, retire and do not seek re-appointment at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting of the Company.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with their resolution dated 24 April 2015.

KRISHNAN A/L PERIYASAMY LOW KIM SENG
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Cont’d)
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014

                                                                                                                              Group                            Company
                                                                                Note                  2014               2013                2014              2013
                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000        RM’000

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment                                    6                400,868          412,258                 135                 52
Investment in subsidiaries                                          7                           0                     0              5,066            6,137
Amount due from a subsidiary 

– net investment                                                       8                           0                     0          293,127        294,796
Amount due from a subsidiary

– interest bearing                                                      8                           0                     0            71,376         100,476
Deferred tax assets                                                     9                           0                 386                     0               331

                                                                                                     400,868          412,644          369,704         401,792

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories                                                                 10                  47,143            45,631                     0                   0
Receivables, deposits and prepayments                    11                  57,586            55,035            25,597          21,868
Tax recoverable                                                                                    479                 118                 319               320
Deposits, cash and bank balances                            12                   6,319              3,980                 215               185

                                                                                                      111,527          104,764            26,131          22,373
Non-current assets held for sale                                13                          0              6,405                     0                   0

                                                                                                      111,527           111,169            26,131          22,373

TOTAL ASSETS                                                                           512,395          523,813          395,835        424,165
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                                                                                                                              Group                            Company
                                                                                Note                  2014               2013                2014              2013
                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000        RM’000

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
ATTRIBUTABLE
TO EQUITY HOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

Share capital                                                              14               210,000          210,000          210,000         210,000
Reserves                                                                    15                 63,567            44,842            85,382          88,371

TOTAL EQUITY                                                                            273,567          254,842          295,382        298,371

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Employee defined benefit plan                                   16                 10,956            10,516                 389               354
Borrowings                                                                 17                      380                 950                   30                   0
Amount due to immediate holding company              18                 44,874            43,038             44,874          43,038

                                                                                                       56,210            54,504            45,293          43,392

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables                                          19                 80,410            80,215              8,468            8,465
Derivative financial instruments                                 20                   1,328                 245                     0                   0
Borrowings
- bank overdraft                                                        17                          0              4,861                     0                   0
- others                                                                     17               100,880          129,146            46,692          73,937

                                                                                                     182,618          214,467            55,160          82,402

TOTAL LIABILITIES                                                                     238,828          268,971          100,453        125,794

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES                                              512,395          523,813          395,835        424,165

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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                                                                                                                              Group                            Company
                                                                                Note                  2014               2013             2014               2013
                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000        RM’000          RM’000

Revenue                                                                    21               321,889          294,713            3,358              3,834
Rental income                                                                                        60                   60                   0                     0
Unrealised (loss)/gain on foreign exchange                                        (680)            (1,018)                24                     0
Realised gain on foreign exchange                                                   1,680                 605               121                 152
Gain/(loss) from insurance claims                                                         35                (159)                  0                     0
Net gain on disposal of non-current
assets held for sale                                                  13                 16,134                     0                   0                     0

Other operating income                                                                       245                 567                   0                     0
Fair value loss on derivative
financial instruments                                                                      (1,083)              (307)                  0                     0

Changes in inventories of finished goods and
work-in-progress                                                                             1,512           (14,270)                  0                     0

Raw materials and consumables used                                        (206,243)        (192,860)                  0                     0
Purchase of packing materials                                                         (4,697)           (4,883)                  0                     0
Hiring of vehicles and equipment                                                    (4,557)           (4,582)             (138)               (165)
Staff costs                                                                  22                (30,513)          (28,018)          (2,272)            (2,263)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment                              (14,937)          (17,189)               (33)                 (25)
Impairment loss:
- property, plant and equipment                                                             0           (45,820)                  0                     0
- subsidiaries                                                                                         0                     0           (1,071)          (45,021)

Upkeep, repairs and maintenance of assets                                  (12,670)          (12,965)               (93)               (111)
Utilities                                                                                           (28,845)         (23,472)                  0                     0
Research and development expenses                                                 (33)                (86)                  0                     0
Other operating expenses                                                               (8,957)          (10,773)          (2,559)            (1,722)

Profit/(loss) from operations                                       23                 28,340           (60,457)          (2,663)          (45,321)

Finance costs                                                             24                  (8,901)           (9,735)               (48)                 (30)
Finance income                                                         24                          2                   28                   0                   27

Profit/(loss) before taxation                                                             19,441           (70,164)          (2,711)          (45,324)

Tax (expense)/credit                                                   25                  (1,564)             6,539              (331)             2,516

Net profit/(loss) for the financial year                                               17,877           (63,625)          (3,042)          (42,808)

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
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                                                                                                                              Group                            Company
                                                                                Note                  2014               2013             2014               2013
                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000        RM’000          RM’000

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss:

Actuarial gain on employee 
defined benefit plan                                                 16                      848                     0                 53                     0

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on
translating foreign subsidiaries                                                              0                     1                   0                     0

Other comprehensive income
for the financial year                                                                          848                     1                 53                     0

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the financial year                                                                      18,725           (63,624)          (2,989)          (42,808)

Net profit/(loss) attributable to
owners of the Company                                                                 17,877           (63,625)          (3,042)          (42,808)

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
attributable to owners of the Company                                          18,725           (63,624)          (2,989)          (42,808)

Basic earnings/(loss) per 
share (sen)                                                               26                     8.51             (30.30)

                                                                                            

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)



41A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 01 4 MIECO CH IPBOARD  BERHAD

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
                                                         Issued and fully paid
                                                             ordinary shares of
                                                                            RM1 each

                                                      Foreign
Number        Nominal             Share       currency       Retained            Total

of shares             value        premium         reserve       earnings          equity
’000          RM’000          RM’000         RM’000         RM’000        RM’000

At 1 January 2013 210,000          210,000              5,866                (44)        102,644        318,466

Comprehensive loss:
-  Net loss for the financial 

year 0                     0                     0                    0          (63,625)       (63,625)

Other comprehensive income:
-  Exchange differences 

on translating foreign 
subsidiaries 0                     0                     0                    1                    0                   1

Total comprehensive 
income/(loss) 0                     0                     0                    1          (63,625)       (63,624)

At 31 December 2013 210,000          210,000              5,866                (43)          39,019        254,842

At 1 January 2014 210,000          210,000              5,866                (43)          39,019        254,842

Comprehensive income:
-  Net profit for the financial 

year 0                     0                     0                    0            17,877           17,877

Other comprehensive income:
- Actuarial gain on employee 

defined benefit plan 0                     0                     0                    0                848               848

Total comprehensive income 0                    0                     0                    0           18,725          18,725

At 31 December 2014 210,000          210,000              5,866                (43)           57,744        273,567

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Issued and fully paid
ordinary shares of Non-

RM1 each distributable Distributable
Number Nominal Share Retained Total

of shares value premium earnings equity
’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

At 1 January 2013 210,000 210,000 5,866 125,313 341,179

Comprehensive loss:
- Net loss for the financial year 0 0 0 (42,808) (42,808)

At 31 December 2013 210,000 210,000 5,866 82,505 298,371

At 1 January 2014 210,000 210,000 5,866 82,505 298,371

Comprehensive loss:
- Net loss for the financial year 0 0 0 (3,042) (3,042)

Other comprehensive income:
- Actuarial gain on employee 

defined benefit plan 0 0 0 53 53

At 31 December 2014 210,000 210,000 5,866 79,516 295,382
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                                                                                                                              Group                            Company
                                                                                Note                  2014               2013             2014               2013
                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000        RM’000          RM’000

CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net profit/(loss) for the financial year                                               17,877           (63,625)          (3,042)          (42,808)
Adjustments for:
Impairment loss:
- property, plant and equipment                                                             0            45,820                   0                     0
- subsidiaries                                                                                         0                     0            1,071            45,021

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment                              14,937             17,189                 33                   25
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment                                                                          127                (391)                  0                     0
Gain on disposal of non-current

assets held for sale                                                  23                (16,595)                    0                   0                     0
Allowance for bad and doubtful

debts, net of recovery                                                                            0                     0            1,454                     0
(Write back of allowance for)/

allowance for inventories obsolescence                                          (155)             2,525                   0                     0
Inventories written off                                                                            44                 725                   0                     0
Finance costs                                                                                    8,901              9,735                 48                   30
Finance income                                                                                      (2)                (28)                  0                  (27)
Provision for employee defined benefit plan                                     1,425              1,351                 88                   82
Tax expense/(credit)                                                                          1,564             (6,539)              331             (2,516)
Fair value loss on derivative financial instruments                            1,083                 307                   0                     0
Unrealised loss/(gain) on foreign exchange                                         680              1,018                (24)                    0

                                                                                                       29,886              8,087                (41)               (193)
Changes in working capital:

(Increase)/decrease in inventories                                                   (1,401)           11,020                   0                     0
Increase in receivables                                                                    (2,235)           (6,525)          (1,528)            (1,281)
(Decrease)/increase in payables                                                    (10,182)           12,548                  (2)             1,250

                                                                                                       16,068            25,130           (1,571)               (224)
Employee defined benefit paid                                                           (137)              (921)                  0                  (26)
Tax (paid)/refund                                                                              (1,539)             2,831                   1              2,609

Net cash flows generated from/
(used in) operating activities                                                         14,392            27,040           (1,570)             2,359

                                                                                                                              

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
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                                                                                                                              Group                            Company
                                                                                Note                  2014               2013             2014               2013
                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000        RM’000          RM’000
CASH FLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant
and equipment                                                          6                   (3,637)           (4,554)               (43)                 (32)

Interest received                                                                                      2                   28                   0                   27
Proceeds from repayment of loan 

principal and interest from a subsidiary                                                 0                     0          31,347            29,609
Proceeds from repayment of net

investment from a subsidiary                                                                 0                     0            1,669                     0
Investment in a subsidiary                                                                       0                     0                   0             (2,120)
Proceeds from sale of property,
plant and equipment                                                                            36                 696                   0                     0

Proceeds from disposal of 
non-current assets held for sale                               13                 23,000                     0                   0                     0

Net cash flows generated from/
(used in) investing activities                                                          19,401             (3,830)         32,973             27,484

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of hire purchase liabilities                                                    (6)                    0                  (6)                    0
Interest paid                                                                                     (7,065)           (8,708)          (4,114)            (5,145)
Repayment of term loans                                                              (28,552)          (26,191)        (27,258)          (24,719)
(Net repayment of)/net proceeds 

from bankers’ acceptances                                                            (1,316)             4,169                   0                     0
(Repayments of)/proceeds from overdraft facility                            (4,861)             3,378                   0                     0
Proceeds from/(repayments of) 
foreign currency trade financing                                                         295                (470)                  0                     0

Advance from a related company                                                   10,000                     0                   0                     0

Net cash flows used in financing activities                                    (31,505)          (27,822)        (31,378)          (29,864)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS                                                 2,288             (4,612)                25                  (21)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF THE
FINANCIAL YEAR                                                                          3,465              8,067                 18                   39

EFFECTS OF EXCHANGE RATE
CHANGES                                                                                           46                   10                   0                     0

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR                       12                   5,799              3,465                 43                   18

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION

The principal activities of the Company are investment holding and provision of management services. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries consist of manufacturing, selling and marketing of chipboards and
related products as shown in Note 7 to the financial statements.

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

The financial statements have been approved for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of
Directors on 24 April 2015.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements of the Group and the Company have been prepared in accordance with the
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the
requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as disclosed in the
significant accounting policies in Note 3 to the financial statements. The Directors have considered the
following matters in preparing the financial statements of the Group on a going concern basis.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group and the Company had net current liabilities of RM71.1 million (2013:
RM103.3 million) and RM29.0 million (2013: RM60.0 million) respectively. As at 31 December 2014, the
Company complied with all of its financial covenants under the term loan agreement except for the covenant
on Debt Service Coverage ratio.

The Group and the Company’s net current liability position and the breach in one of the Company’s financial
covenants of a term loan indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
about the ability of the Group and the Company to continue as a going concern and therefore the Group and
the Company may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. 

The immediate holding company has provided a letter of guarantee to the Company’s banks in respect of the
said term loan as disclosed in Note 17 to the financial statements. In addition, subsequent to the year end, the
immediate holding company and the related companies have issued letters of undertaking to the Group and
the Company not to recall the current portion of the amount due to the immediate holding company and the
amounts due to related companies for the next twelve months from the reporting date as disclosed in Note 19
to the financial statements. The non-current portion of the amount due to the immediate holding company is
subordinated to the prior repayment of the said term loan as disclosed in Note 18 to the financial statements.

In view of the need to improve the Group’s working capital, management has taken initiatives to improve
selling prices of the Group’s core products and carry out certain cost saving plans and improvement in
production efficiency. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

On 21 January 2015, BRDB, the immediate holding company, entered into a Conditional Letter of Agreement
with Purnama Kuantum Sdn. Bhd. (“PKSB”) for the proposed disposal of 119,193,971 ordinary shares of
RM1.00 each in the Company as disclosed in Note 34 to the financial statements.

The proposed disposal is conditional upon the approval of Securities Commission Malaysia (“SC”) for PKSB
to be exempted from the obligation to undertake a mandatory offer to acquire all the remaining shares in the
Company which are not already owned by PKSB arising from the proposed acquisition (“Proposed
Exemption”) and the relevant consents of the banks of the Group and BRDB. On 25 February 2015, PKSB
obtained approval from the SC for the Proposed Exemption. As at the date of the issuance of this report, the
relevant consents of the banks of the Group and BRDB are still pending.

In the event the conditions precedent are met and the proposed disposal takes place, the Company will
become a subsidiary of PKSB. BRDB will cease to be the immediate holding company and the corporate
guarantor for the term loans held of the Group and Company as disclosed in Note 17. Subject to the approval
of the banks, Ambang Sehati Sdn. Bhd. (“ASSB”), the ultimate holding company of BRDB, will be the new
corporate guarantor for the said term loans. The Directors are of the view that the proposed disposal will have
no impact over the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Based on its cash flow forecast and notwithstanding the proposed disposal, the Directors are of the view that
the Group and the Company will have sufficient cash flows to meet the Group’s and the Company’s working
capital needs for the next twelve months from the date of financial statements. Accordingly, the Board of
Directors believes that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements of the Group and of the Company
on a going concern basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reported period.  It also requires Directors to exercise their judgement in the process
of applying the accounting policies. Although these estimates and judgement are based on the Directors’ best
knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may differ.

The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or area where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4 to the financial statements.

(a) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations that are effective

The new accounting standards, amendments and improvements to published standards and
interpretations that are effective for the Group and the Company’s financial year beginning on or after 1
January 2014 are as follows:

• Amendments to MFRS 132 “Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”

• Amendments to MFRS 10, MFRS 12 and MFRS 127 “Investment entities”
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards that are
applicable to the Group and the Company but not yet effective

The Group and the Company will apply the new standards and amendments to standards in the
respective financial year set out below:

(i) Effective from financial year beginning on/after 1 January 2015

• Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle (effective from 1 July 2014) (Amendments to
MFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”, MFRS 3 “Business Combinations”, MFRS 8 “Operating
Segments”, MFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”, MFRS 116 “Property, Plant and Equipment”,
MFRS 124 “Related Party Disclosures” and MFRS 138 “Intangible Assets”)

• Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle (effective from 1 July 2014) (Amendments to
MFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of Financial Reporting Standards”, MFRS 3 “Business
Combinations”, MFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” and MFRS 140 “Investment Property”)

• Amendments to MFRS 119 “Defined Benefits Plans: Employee Contributions” (effective from 1
July 2014).

This amendment clarifies the application of MFRS 119 “Employee benefits” to plans that
require employees or third parties to contribute towards the cost of benefits. 

The amendment permits contributions that are linked to service, and do not vary with the
length of employee service, to be deducted from the cost of benefits earned in the period that
the service is provided.

Contributions that are linked to service, and vary according to the length of employee service,
must be spread over the service period using the same attribution method that is applied to the
benefits; that means either in accordance with the formula in the pension plan, or where the
plan provides a materially higher level of benefit for service in later years, on a straight line
basis. Contributions that are not linked to service are reflected in the measurement of the
benefit obligation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards that are
applicable to the Group and the Company but not yet effective (continued)

The Group and the Company will apply the new standards and amendments to standards in the
respective financial year set out below: (continued)

(ii) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016

• Amendments to MFRS 116 “Property, plant and equipment” and MFRS 138 “Intangible assets”
(effective from 1 January 2016) clarify that the use of revenue-based methods to calculate the
depreciation and amortisation of an item of property, plant and equipment and intangible are
not appropriate. This is because revenue generated by an activity that includes the use of an
asset generally reflects factors other than the consumption of the economic benefits embodied
in the asset.

The amendments to MFRS 138 also clarify that revenue is generally presumed to be an
inappropriate basis for measuring the consumption of the economic benefits embodied in an
intangible asset. This presumption can be overcome only in the limited circumstances where
the intangible asset is expressed as a measure of revenue or where it can be demonstrated
that revenue and the consumption of the economic benefits of the intangible asset are highly
correlated. 

• Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle (Amendments to MFRS 5 “Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations”, MFRS 7 “Financial Instruments:
Disclosures”, MFRS 119 “Employee Benefits” and  MFRS 134 "Interim Financial Reporting”)

(iii) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017

• MFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” (effective from 1 January 2017) deals with
revenue recognition and establishes principles for reporting useful information to users of
financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised when a
customer obtains control of a good or service and thus has the ability to direct the use and
obtain the benefits from the good or service. The standard replaces MFRS 118 “Revenue” and
MFRS 111 “Construction contracts” and related interpretations.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to existing standards that are
applicable to the Group and the Company but not yet effective (continued)

The Group and the Company will apply the new standards and amendments to standards in the
respective financial year set out below: (continued)

(iv) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

• MFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (effective from 1 January 2018) will replace MFRS 139
"Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement". The complete version of MFRS 9 was
issued in November 2014.

MFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model in MFRS 139 and establishes
three primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortised cost, fair value through
profit or loss and fair value through other comprehensive income (“OCI”). The basis of
classification depends on the entity's business model and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial asset. Investments in equity instruments are always measured at
fair value through profit or loss with an irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair
value in OCI (provided the instrument is not held for trading). A debt instrument is measured at
amortised cost only if the entity is holding it to collect contractual cash flows and the cash flows
represent principal and interest.

For liabilities, the standard retains most of the MFRS 139 requirements. These include
amortised cost accounting for most financial liabilities, with bifurcation of embedded
derivatives. The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for financial
liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other
comprehensive income rather than the income statement, unless this creates an accounting
mismatch.

There is now a new expected credit losses model on impairment for all financial assets that
replaces the incurred loss impairment model used in MFRS 139. The expected credit losses
model is forward-looking and eliminates the need for a trigger event to have occurred before
credit losses are recognised.

Unless otherwise disclosed, the above standards, amendments to published standards and interpretations to
existing standards are not anticipated to have any significant impact on the financial statements of the Group
and of the Company in the year of initial application.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These policies have been consistently applied to all the financial years presented, unless otherwise stated.

3.1 Consolidation

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.
They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill. If the total of
consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest measured
is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain
purchase, the difference is recognised directly in the profit or loss.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the successive
acquisition dates any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in the profit
or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with MFRS 139 either in the profit or
loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.1 Consolidation (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts
reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

(b) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions - that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The
difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the
carrying value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair
value at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the profit or loss.

3.2 Investments in subsidiaries

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. See accounting policy Note 3.8 on impairment of non-financial assets.

On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying
amounts of the investments are recognised in the profit or loss.

The amounts due from subsidiaries of which the Company does not expect repayment in the foreseeable
future are considered as part of the Company’s investment in the subsidiaries.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.3 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost and less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its
purchase price and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised as expenses in the profit or loss during
the financial year in which they are incurred.

Gains and losses on disposals of the assets are determined by comparing the proceeds with the
carrying amounts and are included in “other operating income” in the statement of comprehensive
income.

Leasehold land classified as finance lease (refer to accounting policy Note 3.4 on finance leases) is
amortised in equal instalments over the period of the respective leases that range from 49 to 99 years.
Other property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line method to allocate the cost or
the revalued amounts, to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, summarised as follows:

%
Buildings 2.0 – 5.0
Plant and machinery 3.0 – 33.3
Furniture, fittings, office renovation and equipment 10.0 – 33.3
Motor vehicles 20.0

Depreciation on assets under construction commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of the
reporting period. 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group assesses whether there is any indication of impairment. If
such indications exist, an analysis is performed to assess whether the carrying amount of the asset is
fully recoverable. A write down is made if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. See
accounting policy Note 3.8 on impairment of non-financial assets.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.4 Leases

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for a payment or a series of
payments, the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time.

(a) Accounting by lessee

Finance leases

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s
commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the
minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. The corresponding rental
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables. The interest element of
the finance cost is charged to the profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant
and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the
asset and the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred by the Group in negotiating and arranging finance leases are added to
the carrying amount of the leased assets and recognised as an expense in the profit or loss over
the lease term on the same basis as the lease expense.

Operating leases

Leases of assets where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by
the lessor are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the profit or loss on the straight line basis over
the lease period. Initial direct costs incurred by the Group in negotiating and arranging operating
leases are capitalised as prepayments and recognised in profit or loss over the lease term on a
straightline basis.

3.5 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or
loss and loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification at initial recognition.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.5 Financial assets (continued)

(a) Classification (continued)

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets held for trading are categorised as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss. Financial assets held for trading are assets that are acquired or incurred principally for
the purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term. Derivatives are also categorised as
held-for-trading unless they are designated as hedges (see Note 3.19). Assets in this category
are classified as current assets if expected to be settled within 12 months; otherwise, they are
classified as non-current.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for
maturities greater than twelve months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified
as non-current assets. The Group’s and the Company’s loans and receivables are disclosed in
Note 33 to the financial statements.

(b) Recognition and initial measurement

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not
carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss
are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the profit or loss.

(c) Subsequent measurement - Gains and losses

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and
receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Changes in the fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, including the effects
of currency translation, interest and dividend income are recognised in the profit or loss in the period
in which the changes arise.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.5 Financial assets (continued)

(d) Subsequent measurement - Impairment of financial assets

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of the reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial
assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a
‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation, and where
observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The asset’s carrying
amount is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the profit or loss. If ‘loans and
receivables’ has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the
current effective interest rate determined under the contract. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss
is recognised in the profit or loss.

When an asset is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance account. Such assets
are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss
has been determined.

(e) De-recognition

Financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.6 Financial liabilities

The Group and the Company classifies its financial liabilities as other financial liabilities. The
classification depends on the purpose for which the financial liabilities were issued. Management
determines the classification at initial recognition.

Other financial liabilities of the Group and the Company are disclosed in Note 33 to the financial
statements.

When other financial liabilities are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using effective
interest method. Gains or losses are recognised in the profit or loss when the other financial liabilities are
derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired.

3.7 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.

3.8 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value-in-use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there is separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).  Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.

The impairment loss is charged to the profit or loss unless it reverses a previous revaluation in which
case it is charged to the revaluation surplus. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. In respect
of other assets, any subsequent increase in recoverable amount is recognised in the profit or loss unless
it reverses an impairment loss on a revalued asset in which case it is taken to revaluation surplus
reserve.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.9 Employee benefits

(a) Short-term employee benefits

Wages, salaries, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the period in which the associated services are rendered by employees of the Group. 

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses. The Group recognises a provision
where it is contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.

(b) Post-employment benefits 

The Group has various post-employment benefit schemes in accordance with local conditions and
practices in the countries in which it operates. These benefits plans are either defined contribution
or defined benefit plans.

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior periods. 

Defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution plan. Defined benefit plans
define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent
on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation.

(i) Defined contribution plan

The Group’s contributions to defined contribution plans are charged to the profit or loss in the
financial year to which they relate. Once the contributions have been paid, the Group has no
further payment obligations. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that
a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available.

(ii) Defined benefit plan-unfunded

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period. The defined
benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit
credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting
the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are
denominated in Ringgit Malaysia, and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of
the related pension obligation.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.9 Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Post-employment benefits (continued)

(ii) Defined benefit plan-unfunded (continued)

The current service cost of the defined benefit plan reflects the increase in the defined benefit
obligation resulting from employee service in the current year. It is recognised in the profit or
loss in employee benefit expense, except where included in the cost of an asset.                      

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial
assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income in the period in
which they arise. 

Past service costs are recognised immediately in the profit or loss.

3.10 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average cost method. The cost of finished goods and work-in-progress includes raw materials, labour
and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowings costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of
completion and applicable variable selling expenses.

3.11 Receivables

Receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the
ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current
assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

3.12 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original maturities of three months or less. Proceeds and
repayments from bankers’ tradeline facilities are reported on a net basis in the statement of cash flows as
the turnover is quick, the amounts are large, and the maturities are short (i.e three months or less). In the
statements of financial position, banks overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities. Bank
overdrafts do not form an integral part of the Group’s cash management. 
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.13 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Group’s subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income.

Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. This liability is measured using the single
best estimate of the most likely outcome.

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
amounts attributed to assets and liabilities for tax purposes and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements.  However, deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets (including tax benefit from reinvestment allowance) are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred and income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.14 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when:

• the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and
• a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.

Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement is
recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations
may be small. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
finance cost expense.

3.15 Share capital

(a) Classification

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Distributions to the holders of a financial instrument
classified as an equity instruments is charged directly to equity.

(b) Dividends 

Distribution to holders of an equity instrument is debited directly to equity, net of any related income
tax benefit and the corresponding liability is recognised in the period in which the dividends are
approved. A dividend declared after the reporting date, but before the financial statements are
authorised for issue, is not recognised as liability at the reporting date.

3.16 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and
services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of returns, rebates and
discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the Group and specific criteria have been met for each of the
Group’s activities as described below. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.16 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Sale of goods

The Group manufactures and sells a range of chipboard and related products. Sales of goods are
recognised when a Group entity has delivered products to the buyer, the buyer has full discretion
over the channel and price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the buyer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery does not occur until the products have been
shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the
buyer, and either the buyer has accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract, the
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group entity has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

Sales are recorded based on the price specified in the sales invoices, net of discounts at the time of
sale and subsequent returns.

(b) Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a loan and receivable is
impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated
future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loan and receivables is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.

(c) Management fee

Management fee from subsidiaries is recognised on the accrual basis.

3.17 Foreign currencies

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia, which is the Group’s
functional and presentation currency.



62 MIECO CH IPBOARD  BERHAD A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 01 4

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.17 Foreign currencies (continued)

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit or loss.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in profit or loss within unrealised (loss)/gain on
foreign exchange and realised gain on foreign exchange.

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

• assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

• income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income or separate income
statement presented are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the prevailing rate on the dates of
the transactions); and

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of other
comprehensive income.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation),
all of the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the separate component of equity are reclassified to profit or loss. In the
case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-
attributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership interest in associates or joint ventures that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control) the proportionate share of the
accumulated exchange difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.18 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between initial recognised amount and the
redemption value is recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the drawdown occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised
over the period of the facility to which it relates.

3.19 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently re-measured at their fair values. Changes in fair value of financial instruments are
recognised in the profit or loss.

3.20 Trade payables 

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

3.21 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the Board of
Directors that makes strategic decisions.
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3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.22 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

The Group does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial statements. 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the
control of the Group or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises in the
extremely rare case where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be measured
reliably.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the
Group. The Group does not recognise contingent assets but discloses its existence where inflows of
economic benefits are probable, but not virtually certain.

3.23 Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

3.24 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the Group or Company to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments
when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued.
The liability is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher of the amount determined in
accordance with MFRS 137 “Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets” and the amount
initially recognised less cumulative amortisation, where appropriate.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined as the present value of the difference in net cash
flows between the contractual payments under the debt instrument and the payments that would be
required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount that would be payable to a third party for
assuming the obligations.

Where financial guarantees in relation to loans or payables of subsidiaries are provided by the Company
for no compensation, the fair values are accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of the
cost of investment in subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,
by definition, rarely equal the related actual results. To enhance the information content of the estimates,
certain key variables that are anticipated to have material impact to the Group’s results and financial positions
are tested for sensitivity to changes in the underlying parameters. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are outlined below:

(a) Preparation of the financial statements of the Group as a going concern

The Directors are of the view that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements of the Group as a
going concern. Refer to Note 2 for further details.

(b) Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses impairment of property, plant and equipment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable, i.e. the carrying
amount of the asset is higher than the recoverable amount.  Recoverable amount is measured at the
higher of the fair value less cost to sell for that asset and its value-in-use. 

Projected future cash flows used in the impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment are
based on the Group’s estimates calculated based on historical, sector and industry trends, general
market and economic conditions and other available information.

The assumptions used, results and impact of possible change in the key assumptions of the impairment
assessment of the property, plant and equipment are disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements.

(c) Estimated impairment of investment in a subsidiary

The Company assesses impairment of investment in a subsidiary whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable, i.e. the carrying
amount of the asset is higher than the recoverable amount.  Recoverable amount is measured at the
higher of the fair value less cost to sell for that asset and its value-in-use. 

Projected future cash flows used in the impairment assessment of investment in a subsidiary is based on
the Company’s estimates calculated based on historical, sector and industry trends, general market and
economic conditions and other available information.

The assumptions used, results and impact of possible change in the key assumptions of the impairment
assessment of investment in a subsidiary are disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d) Recognition of deferred tax asset

Deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised. This involves judgement regarding the future
financial performance of the Group and the Company in which the deferred tax asset has been
recognised.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group and the Company recorded a deferred tax asset of RM Nil (2013:
RM0.4 million) and RM Nil (2013: RM0.3 million) respectively. The Group and the Company also had
deductible temporary differences, unutilised investment tax allowances, unutilised capital allowances and
unutilised tax losses in an aggregate amount of RM509.6 million (2013: RM503.2 million) and RM7.8
million (2013: RM4.9 million) respectively, for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised on the
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2014. The fluctuations in profit/(loss) before taxation
indicate that there are no strong earnings history to support that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available to utilise against the unutilised investment tax allowances, unutilised capital allowances and
unutilised tax losses in the foreseeable future.

5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

The Group’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure that adequate financial resources are available
for the development of the Group’s businesses whilst managing its foreign currency exchange risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk, liquidity and cash flows risks. The Group operates within clearly defined authority limits
that have been approved by the Board of Directors. Further financial risk management is carried out through
risk reviews, internal control systems and insurance programme.

Foreign currency exchange risk

The Group incurs foreign currency exchange risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency
other than Ringgit Malaysia.

The Group covers a major portion of foreign trade receivables and a portion of payables denominated in
foreign currency with foreign exchange forward contracts when the need arises. All foreign exchange forward
contracts are for the purpose of hedging to protect the Group from foreign currency fluctuations and the Group
is not allowed to trade, other than for the purpose of hedging.

The Group does not apply hedge accounting. 
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5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency exchange risk (continued)

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to foreign currencies are as follows:

                                                                                                     US     Singapore                                  Swiss
                                                                                                Dollar             Dollar               Euro            Franc
                                                                                             RM’000          RM’000          RM’000        RM’000

As at 31 December 2014

Group

Trade and other receivables                                                      9,709                 295               160                   83
Cash and cash equivalents                                                          124                     0                   0                     0
Borrowings                                                                             (12,299)                   0              (618)                    0
Trade and other payables                                                        (6,189)                (41)          (1,648)                 (17)

Gross currency exposure                                                         (8,655)                254           (2,106)                  66
Less: Trade receivables hedged using
foreign exchange forward contracts                                     (10,534)                    0                   0                     0

Net currency exposure                                                           (19,189)                254           (2,106)                  66

Company

Borrowings                                                                             (12,299)                    0                   0                     0
Trade and other payables                                                             (82)                    0                   0                     0

Net currency exposure                                                           (12,381)                    0                   0                     0
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5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency exchange risk (continued)

The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to foreign currencies are as follows: (continued)

                                                                                                     US     Singapore                                  Swiss
                                                                                                Dollar             Dollar               Euro            Franc
                                                                                             RM’000          RM’000          RM’000        RM’000

As at 31 December 2013

Group

Trade and other receivables                                                    11,790                 537                   2                     0
Cash and cash equivalents                                                            54                   22                   0                     0
Borrowings                                                                             (18,628)                    0              (323)                    0
Trade and other payables                                                        (6,613)                (53)          (2,831)                 (28)

Gross currency exposure                                                       (13,397)                506           (3,152)                 (28)
Less:  Net financial assets denominated
in respective entities’ functional
currencies                                                                                      0                    (8)                  0                     0

Less:  Trade receivables hedged using
foreign exchange forward contracts                                     (11,833)                    0                   0                     0

Net currency exposure                                                           (25,230)                498           (3,152)                 (28)

Company

Borrowings                                                                             (18,628)                    0                   0                     0
Trade and other payables                                                           (124)                    0                   0                     0

Net currency exposure                                                           (18,752)                    0                   0                     0
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5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency exchange risk (continued)

If the relevant foreign currencies strengthened against the respective functional currencies of the Group
entities by 5% (2013: 5%), it would decrease the Group’s profit before tax and decrease its retained earnings
by approximately RM1.0 million (2013: increase loss before tax of RM1.4 million) and RM0.8 million (2013:
RM1.0 million) respectively. A weakening in foreign currencies against the respective Group entities’ functional
currencies by 5% (2013: 5%) has an equal but opposite effect.

If the relevant foreign currencies strengthened against the functional currency of the Company by 5% (2013:
5%), it would decrease the Company’s profit before tax and decrease its retained earnings by approximately
RM0.6 million (2013: increase loss before tax of RM0.9 million) and RM0.5 million (2013: RM0.7 million)
respectively. A weakening in foreign currencies against the functional currency of the Company by 5% (2013:
5%) would have an equal but opposite effect. 

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows and/or fair valuations of the Group’s and the Company’s
interest bearing financial instruments will be negatively impacted due to fluctuation in market interest rates. 

The Group’s and the Company’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. The Group’s and the Company’s interest bearing financial instruments are mainly
borrowings and deposits. Investments in financial assets are short term in nature and are mostly placed as
short-term deposits with licensed financial institutions. The interest bearing assets are insignificant to provide
any natural hedging effect for the interest bearing liabilities. The Group and the Company do not hold any
interest-rate derivatives for hedging purposes as at the reporting date. As at the reporting date, the Group’s
and the Company’s debt portfolio comprise of floating rate borrowings.

Details of interest bearing liabilities are as follows:

                                                                                                                      Group                            Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014              2013
                                                                                             RM’000          RM’000          RM’000        RM’000

Floating rate borrowings                                                        101,260          134,957            46,722          73,937

If the interest rate on variable-rate borrowings of the Group had been higher by 1% (2013: 1%), it would
decrease the Group’s profit before taxation and decrease its retained earnings by approximately RM1.0 million
(2013: increase loss before tax of RM1.3 million) and RM0.8 million (2013: RM1.0 million) respectively. If the
interest rate on variable-rate borrowings of the Group had been lower by 1% (2013: 1%), it would have an
equal but opposite effect.

If the interest rate on variable-rate borrowings of the Company had been higher by 1% (2013: 1%), it would
increase the Company’s loss before taxation and decrease its retained earnings by approximately RM0.5
million (2013: RM0.7 million) and RM0.4 million (2013: RM0.6 million) respectively. If the interest rate on
variable-rate borrowings of the Company had been lower by 1% (2013: 1%), it would have an equal but
opposite effect.
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5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty default
on its obligations.  The Group’s exposure to credit risks arises primarily from cash and bank balances, and
trade and other receivables. The Company’s exposure to credit risks arises primarily from cash and bank
balances, other receivables and amounts due from subsidiaries. The Group seeks to control credit risk by
having in place policies for credit control which cover, inter-alia, credit evaluation on all customer credit over a
certain amount, imposition of collateral or security and strict adherence to credit approval limits. Regular
reviews and monitoring of credit risk exposure and management of delinquent debtors form part of the
operational controls implemented by the Group to reduce such risk.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are limited due to the Group’s large number of
customers. The Group’s historical experience in collection of accounts receivable falls within the recorded
allowances. Due to these factors, management believes that no additional credit risk beyond amounts
provided for collection losses is inherent in the Group’s receivables. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each class of financial
instruments presented on the statement of financial position including derivatives with positive fair values,
except for financial guarantee contracts. Deposits with banks and other financial institutions are neither past
due nor impaired and are placed with reputable financial institutions with high credit ratings and no history of
default. 

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables are as follows:

                                                                                                                                                                  Group
                                                                                                                               Allowances
                                                                                                             Gross       for doubtful                 Net of
                                                                                                           amount                 debts        allowances
                                                                                                           RM’000              RM’000              RM’000

As at 31 December 2014

Not past due                                                                                         53,833                         0                53,833
Past due 1 – 30 days                                                                                   42                         0                       42
Past due 31 – 90 days                                                                               592                         0                     592
More than 90 days                                                                                     309                      (49)                    260

                                                                                                             54,776                      (49)               54,727

As at 31 December 2013

Not past due                                                                                         49,408                         0                49,408
Past due 1 – 30 days                                                                              1,220                         0                  1,220
Past due 31 – 90 days                                                                                 58                         0                       58
More than 90 days                                                                                     473                      (49)                    424

                                                                                                             51,159                      (49)                51,110

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s trade receivables amounting to RM0.9 million (2013: RM1.7 million)
were past due but not impaired. The Group believes that, generally no allowance for doubtful debts is
necessary in respect of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired as these receivables are
mainly arising from trade debtors that have good records of payment in the past.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s trade receivables which were impaired amounted to RM49,306 (2013:
RM49,306). There is no change in the allowance for doubtful debts in respect of trade receivables since the
prior financial year.

The ageing analysis of the Group’s other receivables are as follows:

                                                                                                                                                                  Group
                                                                                                                               Allowances
                                                                                                             Gross       for doubtful                 Net of
                                                                                                           amount                 debts        allowances
                                                                                                           RM’000              RM’000              RM’000

As at 31 December 2014

Not past due                                                                                           1,497                         0                  1,497
More than 90 days                                                                                  8,609                 (7,815)                    794

                                                                                                             10,106                 (7,815)                 2,291

As at 31 December 2013

Not past due                                                                                           2,667                         0                  2,667
More than 90 days                                                                                  8,609                 (7,815)                    794

                                                                                                             11,276                 (7,815)                 3,461

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

The ageing analysis of the Company’s other receivables are as follows:

                                                                                                                                                            Company
                                                                                                                               Allowances
                                                                                                             Gross       for doubtful                 Net of
                                                                                                           amount                 debts        allowances
                                                                                                           RM’000              RM’000              RM’000

As at 31 December 2014

Not past due                                                                                                86                         0                       86
More than 90 days                                                                                       54                      (54)                        0

                                                                                                                  140                      (54)                      86

As at 31 December 2013

Not past due                                                                                                71                         0                       71
More than 90 days                                                                                       54                      (54)                        0

                                                                                                                  125                      (54)                      71

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s other receivables amounting to RM0.8 million (2013: RM0.8 million)
were past due but not impaired. At that date, the Company had no other receivables that were past due but
not impaired (2013: nil). The Group believes that, generally no allowance for doubtful debts is necessary in
respect of other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired as these receivables are mainly arising
from other receivables that have good records of payment in the past.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s and the Company’s other receivables which were impaired amounted to
RM7.8 million (2013: RM7.8 million) and RM0.1 million (2013: RM0.1 million) respectively. There is no change
in the allowance for doubtful debts in respect of other receivables since the prior financial year.

As at 31 December 2014, the Company’s amount due from subsidiaries amounting to RM96.9 million (2013:
RM122.3 million) were not past due and not impaired. The Group believes that, generally no allowance for
doubtful debts is necessary in respect of amount due from subsidiaries as they are expected to be recovered
in the future.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2014, the Company’s amounts due from subsidiaries which were impaired amounted to
RM2.1 million (2013: RM0.7 million). The change in the allowance for doubtful debts in respect of amount due
from subsidiaries is as follows:

                                                                                                                                                             Company
                                                                                                                                                2014              2013
                                                                                                                                           RM’000        RM’000

At 1 January                                                                                                                              683               683
Allowance made during the year                                                                                            1,454                   0

At 31 December                                                                                                                      2,137               683

Liquidity and cash flows risks

The Group’s policy on liquidity risk management is to maintain sufficient cash and have available funding
through adequate amounts of committed credit facilities and credit lines for working capital requirements.

In managing the Group’s liquidity risk, the Group has taken initiatives to manage its working capital by
improving selling prices of the Group’s core products, improving production efficiency and carrying out costs
saving plans to further reduce expenses incurred. 
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5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity and cash flows risks (continued)

The following are the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows:

       Carrying                                  Within       Between             After
         amount               Total           1 year       1-5 years        5 years
         RM’000          RM’000         RM’000         RM’000        RM’000

As at 31 December 2014

Group

Trade and other payables(1)            79,891            79,891           79,891                    0                   0
Borrowings          101,260          105,721         105,329                392                   0
Amount due to immediate 
holding company            44,874            52,153                    0           52,153                   0

Derivative financial instruments              1,328              1,328             1,328                    0                   0

          227,353          239,093         186,548           52,545                   0

Company

Trade and other payables(1)              8,432              8,432             8,432                    0                   0
Borrowings            46,722            49,906           49,874                  32                   0
Amount due to immediate

holding company            44,874            52,153                    0           52,153                   0

         100,028           110,491           58,306           52,185                   0

Financial guarantee contracts                     0            44,999           44,999                    0                   0

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity and cash flows risks (continued)

The following are the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows: (continued)

       Carrying                                  Within       Between             After
         amount               Total           1 year       1-5 years        5 years
         RM’000          RM’000         RM’000         RM’000        RM’000

As at 31 December 2013

Group

Trade and other payables(1)            79,858            79,858           79,858                    0                   0
Borrowings          134,957          140,822         139,846                976                   0
Amount due to immediate 

holding company            43,038            50,316                    0           50,316                   0
Derivative financial instruments                 245                 245                245                    0                   0

         258,098          271,241         219,949           51,292                   0

Company

Trade and other payables(1)              8,428              8,428             8,428                    0                   0
Borrowings            73,937            78,249           78,249                    0                   0
Amount due to immediate

holding company            43,038            50,316                    0           50,316                   0

         125,403          136,993           86,677           50,316                   0

Financial guarantee contracts                     0            45,440           45,440                    0                   0

(1) The maturity analysis applies to financial instruments only and therefore non-financial liabilities are not included.

Capital management

The Group and the Company define capital as the share capital and this is unchanged from the prior year. 
The Group and the Company manage the capital structure and make adjustments to it, in light of changes in
economic condition. To maintain or adjust capital structure, the Group and the Company may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, share buy-backs or make
arrangements with the immediate holding company. The Group’s and the Company’s approach in managing
capital is based on defined guidelines that are approved by the Board of Directors.

There were no changes in the Group’s and the Company’s approach to capital management during the
financial year.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

5 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Fair value

The carrying amounts of the following financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values due to the
relatively short term maturity of these financial instruments: deposits, cash and bank balances, receivables,
and payables. The Group’s and the Company’s non-current loans and receivables and other financial liabilities
are measured using the amortised cost model and approximates their fair values as the Group’s and the
Company’s debt portfolio comprise of floating rate borrowings.

Fair value estimation

The disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1)
• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either

directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2)
• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable

inputs) (level 3)

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at 31 December
2014:

                                                                                                                                                                   Group
                                                                                                                                                2014              2013
                                                                                                                                           RM’000        RM’000

Level 2

Derivative financial instruments – current liabilities                                                                1,328               245

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active market is based on quoted market prices at the
financial position date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from
an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent
actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

                                                            Furniture
                                                     fittings, office                                           
                                                         renovation

Leasehold                                 Plant and                     and            Motor
land       Buildings        machinery     equipment        vehicles             Total

RM’000           RM’000             RM’000              RM’000         RM’000        RM’000
Group

Net book value

As at 1 January 2014 16,002            96,497             295,438                  1,155             3,166         412,258
Additions 0                     0                 2,708                  1,002                    0             3,710
Disposals/write offs 0                     0                        0                         0               (163)             (163)
Depreciation charge 

for the financial year (229)            (1,135)             (12,314)                   (440)             (819)        (14,937)

At 31 December 2014 15,773            95,362             285,832                  1,717             2,184        400,868

At 31 December 2014

Cost 19,212           122,197             575,020                14,390             9,582         740,401
Accumulated 

depreciation (3,439)          (16,041)          (253,416)              (12,673)           (7,398)      (292,967)
Accumulated 

impairment losses 0           (10,794)            (35,772)                        0                    0         (46,566)

Net book value 15,773            95,362             285,832                  1,717             2,184        400,868

During the financial year ended 31 December 2014, the Group purchased an equipment amounting to RM0.1
million via a hire-purchase arrangement.
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6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

                                                 Furniture
                                          fittings, office                   
                                               renovation                   Capital

Leasehold                        Plant and                   and         Motor work-in-
land   Buildings   machinery   equipment     vehicles progress         Total

RM’000       RM’000        RM’000            RM’000      RM’000 RM’000     RM’000
Group

Net book value

As at 1 January 2013 16,441       114,640         337,038                1,431          4,330 3,543     477,423
Additions 0                  0            4,377                   177                 0 0        4,554
Reclassifications 0                  0            3,539                       0                 4 (3,543)                0
Reclassification to 

non-current assets 
held for sale 
(Note 13) (203)        (5,873)              (313)                   (16)                0 0       (6,405)

Disposals/write offs 0                  0                   0                       0            (305) 0          (305)
Impairment loss 0      (10,794)         (35,026)                      0                 0 0     (45,820)
Depreciation charge

for the financial year (236)        (1,476)         (14,177)                 (437)           (863) 0      (17,189)

At 31 December 2013 16,002         96,497        295,438                1,155          3,166 0     412,258

At 31 December 2013

Cost 19,212       122,197        571,215              13,472          9,990 0    736,086
Accumulated 

depreciation (3,210)      (14,906)       (240,005)            (12,317)        (6,824) 0    (277,262)
Accumulated 

impairment losses 0      (10,794)         (35,772)                      0                 0 0     (46,566)

Net book value 16,002         96,497        295,438                1,155          3,166 0     412,258
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6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Furniture and
fittings, office

renovation and
equipment Total

RM’000 RM’000
Company

Net book value

At 1 January 2014 52 52
Additions 116 116
Depreciation charge for the financial year (33) (33)

At 31 December 2014 135 135

At 31 December 2014
Cost 5,073 5,073
Accumulated depreciation (4,938) (4,938)

Net book value 135 135

Net book value
At 1 January 2013 45 45
Additions 32 32
Depreciation charge for the financial year (25) (25)

At 31 December 2013 52 52

At 31 December 2013
Cost 4,997 4,997
Accumulated depreciation (4,945) (4,945)

Net book value 52 52

During the financial year ended 31 December 2014, the Company purchased an equipment amounting to
RM0.1 million via a hire-purchase arrangement.

The leasehold lands in Gebeng and Kuala Lipis held by the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Mieco
Manufacturing Sdn. Bhd., and all of Mieco Manufacturing Sdn. Bhd.’s plant, equipment, machinery and fixed
assets both present and future, affixed to or in the said lands are charged to the outstanding amount of certain
term loans. 
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6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment

A plant of a subsidiary (“Plant 3”), which recommenced operation in January 2011 after being closed
temporarily since November 2008 had shown an indication of impairment based on the operating results of
the plant for the financial year ended 31 December 2014. Consequently, management performed an
impairment assessment of the Plant 3. Based on management’s assessment, the recoverable amount of Plant
3 as at 31 December 2014, based on value-in-use (“VIU”) calculation is RM297.9 million, which is higher than
its carrying value of RM284.3 million by RM13.6 million.

Accordingly, no impairment loss with respect to Plant 3 was recognised.

(a) Key assumptions used in the VIU calculation

The VIU calculation applied a discounted cash flow model using cash flow projections based on an
approved 5-year budget and projections covering the remaining useful life of Plant 3 of 20 years. These
projections reflect management’s best estimate of the future results of Plant 3 based on past experience
and future outlook.

The key estimates used in the cash flow projections are the selling prices of the products, key
components of the raw material prices and the weighted average cost of capital specific to the Group’s
industry. The key assumptions of the projections are as follows:

• Selling prices are increased by 1% (2013: 2.50%) year-on-year for the first 5 years of projection and
beyond the fifth year are extrapolated to the end of the useful life based on a 3% (2013: 3.50%)
year-on-year increase.

• Cost of major raw materials prices are maintained for the first 5 years of projection (2013: increased
by approximately 1% year-on-year) and beyond the fifth year are extrapolated to the end of the
useful life based on a 2.75% (2013: 2.75%) year-on-year increase.

• Sales and production volumes are projected to increase year-on-year by 10% (2013: 10%) until it hits
optimum capacity and are subsequently assumed to remain constant.

• A pre-tax discount rate of 10.61% (2013: 9.91%) has been applied to the cash flow projections.
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6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment (continued)

(b) Impact of possible change in key assumptions

The Group’s impairment assessment includes an assessment of changes in key assumptions that would
impact the financial statements, as set out below: 

• If the discount rate increases by 1%, the recoverable amount would be lower by RM23.1 million, the
property, plant and equipment will be impaired.

• If the selling price decreases by 1%, the recoverable amount would be lower by RM1.1 million, the
property, plant and equipment will not be impaired.

• If the prices of key components of raw materials increases by 1%, the recoverable amount would be
lower by RM1.2 million, the property, plant and equipment will not be impaired.

• If the sales volume decreases by 5%, the recoverable amount would be lower by RM1.3 million, the
property, plant and equipment will not be impaired.
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7 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

                                                                                                                                                             Company
                                                                                                                                                2014              2013
                                                                                                                                           RM’000        RM’000

Unquoted shares, at cost                                                                                                      52,495          52,495
Allowance for impairment loss                                                                                             (47,429)         (46,358)
                                                                                                                                                        
                                                                                                                                               5,066            6,137

The shares in the subsidiaries are held directly by the Company, except for Mieco Reforestation Sdn. Bhd., which
is held directly by Mieco Wood Resources Sdn. Bhd. Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Effective interest
Name of company 2014 2013 Principal activities

% %

Mieco Manufacturing Sdn. Bhd. (1) 100 100 Manufacturing and marketing of 
chipboards and related products

Mieco Marketing Sdn. Bhd. (1) 100 100 Selling and marketing of
chipboards and related products

Mieco Marketing (S) Pte. Ltd. (2) 100 100 Dormant

Mieco Chemicals Sdn. Bhd. (1) 100 100 Dormant

Mieco Wood Products Sdn. Bhd. (1) 100 100 Dormant

Mieco Reforestation Sdn. Bhd. (1) 100 100 Dormant

Mieco Wood Resources Sdn. Bhd. (1) 100 100 Dormant

Mieco International (H.K.) Limited (3) 100 100 Dormant

Tudor Capital Sdn. Bhd. (1) 100 100 Dormant

Aspire Benchmark Sdn. Bhd. (1) 100 100 Dormant

Note:
(1) Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Malaysia
(2) Audited by a firm other than PricewaterhouseCoopers, Malaysia and member firms of PricewaterhouseCoopers

International Limited
(3) Company is dormant. As such no statutory audit is required under Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

All the subsidiaries are incorporated in Malaysia, except for Mieco Marketing (S) Pte. Ltd. and Mieco
International (HK) Limited, which are incorporated in Singapore and Hong Kong respectively.
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

7 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment assessment for investment in a subsidiary

As at 31 December 2014, a major subsidiary of the Group is in a net current liability position and a net liability
position. Consequently, management performed an impairment assessment of the subsidiary. Based on
management’s assessment, the recoverable amount of the subsidiary as at 31 December 2014, based on
value-in-use (“VIU”) calculation is RM320.4 million, which is higher than its carrying value of RM298.1 million
by RM22.3 million. Accordingly, no impairment loss with respect to the subsidiary was recognised.

(a) Key assumptions used in the VIU calculation

The VIU calculation applied a discounted cash flow model using cash flow projections based on an
approved 5-year budget and projections to perpetuity. These projections reflect management’s best
estimate of the future results of the subsidiary based on past experience and future outlook.
Management have also considered the timing of the dividend inflow.

The cash flows used for the impairment assessment were after cash flows from financing activities and
tax payments, discounted at industry cost of equity from market participants’ view. The key assumptions
of the projections are as follows:

• Selling prices are increased by 1% (2013: 2.50%) year-on-year for the first 5 years of projection.

• Cost of major raw materials prices are maintained for the first 5 years of projection (2013: increased
by approximately 1% year-on-year).

• Sales and production volumes are projected to increase year-on-year by 5% for one cash
generating unit (2013: 10%) and 10% for Plant 3 (2013: 10%) until it hits optimum capacity and are
subsequently assumed to remain constant.

• A constant growth rate to perpetuity of 3% (2013: 3%) per annum.

• A post-tax discount rate of 12.15% (2013: 13.81%) has been applied to the cash flow projections.

(b) Impact of possible change in key assumptions

The Company’s impairment assessment includes an assessment of changes in key assumptions that
would impact the financial statements, as set out below: 

• If the selling price decreases by 1%, the recoverable amount would be lower by RM3.2 million, the
cost of investment will not be impaired.

• If the prices of key components of raw materials increases by 5%, the recoverable amount would be
lower by RM7.2 million, the cost of investment will not be impaired.

• If the sales volume decreases by 5%, the recoverable amount would be lower by RM16.5 million,
the cost of investment will not be impaired.
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7 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment assessment for investment in a subsidiary (continued)

(b) Impact of possible change in key assumptions (continued)

The Company’s impairment assessment includes an assessment of changes in key assumptions that
would impact the financial statements, as set out below (continued):

• If the discount rate increases by 1%, the recoverable amount would be lower by RM35.9 million, the
cost of investment will be impaired.

• If the projected growth rate to perpetuity decreases by 1% from management’s estimates, the
recoverable amount will be lower by RM25.3 million, the cost of investment will be impaired.

Impairment for investment in other subsidiaries

During the financial year, the Company recorded an allowance for impairment loss amounting to RM1.1 million
for investments in several subsidiaries as the investments were deemed to be irrecoverable as the entities
remained dormant as at the financial year end.

8 AMOUNT DUE FROM A SUBSIDIARY

The amount due from a subsidiary of RM293.1 million (2013: RM294.8 million) which is interest free,
unsecured and denominated in Ringgit Malaysia is considered as part of net investment in a subsidiary. 

In addition to the above, the amount due from a subsidiary includes a balance amounting to RM91.5 million
(2013: RM117.0 million) which is unsecured, denominated in Ringgit Malaysia and is interest-bearing. 

The repayment terms of the amount due from a subsidiary which is interest bearing are as follows:

                                                                                                                                                             Company
                                                                                                                                                2014              2013
                                                                                                                                           RM’000        RM’000

Current
Receivable within one year (Note 11)                                                                                    20,153          16,498

Non-current
Receivable between two to five years                                                                                   26,502           57,439
Receivable later than five years                                                                                            44,874          43,037

                                                                                                                                             71,376         100,476

                                                                                                                                             91,529         116,974
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8 AMOUNT DUE FROM A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED)

The effective interest rate of the interest-bearing amount due from a subsidiary as at the reporting date was
5.35% (2013: 5.83%) per annum.

The estimated fair value for the amount due from a subsidiary (which is interest-bearing and not considered
as part of net investment in a subsidiary) as at the reporting date approximates its carrying value. 

9 DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same tax authority. The following
amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the statements of financial position:

                                                                                                                         Group                     Company
                                                                                                         2014            2013           2014             2013

                                                                                                            RM’000      RM’000      RM’000        RM’000

Subject to income tax:
Deferred tax assets                                                                                0             386                 0               331
Deferred tax liabilities                                                                             0                 0                 0                   0

                                                                                                               0             386                 0               331

                                                                            
At start of financial year                                                                      386         (4,278)            331               417
(Charged)/credited to statement
of comprehensive income (Note 25):

- Property, plant and equipment                                                         326          4,298              (21)             (67)
- Provisions and employee defined benefit plan                                   27            (177)           (139)             (19)
- Inventories                                                                                      (489)            631                 0                   0
- Receivables                                                                                     (171)                0            (171)                  0
- Others                                                                                               (79)             (88)                0                   0

                                                                                                         (386)         4,664            (331)             (86)

At end of financial year                                                                           0             386                 0               331
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9 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

                                                                                                                  Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Subject to income tax:
Deferred tax assets (before offsetting)

Provisions and employee defined benefit plan                          2,844              2,817                   32              171
Inventories                                                                                   937              1,426                     0                  0
Receivables                                                                                   12                 183                     0              171

                                                                                                 3,793              4,426                   32              342
Offsetting                                                                                 (3,793)           (4,040)                 (32)              (11)

Deferred tax assets (after offsetting)                                                0                 386                     0              331

                                                                                                                   Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Deferred tax liabilities (before offsetting)

Property, plant and equipment                                                 (3,584)            (3,910)                 (32)              (11)
Others                                                                                         (209)               (130)                    0                  0

                                                                                                (3,793)           (4,040)                 (32)              (11)
Offsetting                                                                                   3,793              4,040                   32                11

Deferred tax liabilities (after offsetting)                                             0                     0                     0                  0
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9 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)
                                                                            
The amount of deductible temporary differences, unutilised tax losses, unutilised investment tax allowance, and
unutilised capital allowance (all of which have no expiry date) for which no deferred tax asset is recognised on
the statement of financial position is as follows:

                                                                                                                    Group                          Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Deductible temporary differences                                             2,658                     0              2,618                  0
Unutilised tax losses                                                               16,510            16,344              5,060           4,904
Unutilised investment tax allowance                                     432,696          432,696                     0                  0
Unutilised capital allowance                                                     57,744            54,177                 162                  0

                                                                                             509,608          503,217               7,840           4,904

10 INVENTORIES

Group
                                                                                                                                                2014            2013

                                                                                                                                                   RM’000       RM’000

At cost:
Raw materials                                                                                                                       16,523         14,633
Work-in-progress                                                                                                                       710              798
Finished goods                                                                                                                      17,612         16,983
Spares and consumables                                                                                                     12,298         13,217

                                                                                                                                              47,143         45,631
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11 RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

                                                                                                                Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Trade receivables                                                                    54,776            51,159                     0                  0
Less: allowance for doubtful debts                                                (49)                (49)                    0                  0

                                                                                               54,727            51,110                     0                  0

Amounts due from subsidiaries                                                       0                     0             27,636         22,468
Less: allowance for doubtful debts                                                   0                     0             (2,137)           (683)

                                                                                                        0                     0            25,499         21,785

                                                                            
Other receivables                                                                    10,106            11,276                 140              125
Less: allowance for doubtful debts                                           (7,815)            (7,815)                 (54)             (54)

                                                                                                 2,291              3,461                   86                71
Deposits                                                                                       266                 143                     5                  5
Prepayments                                                                                302                 321                     7                  7

                                                                                                 2,859              3,925                   98                83

Total                                                                                         57,586            55,035            25,597         21,868

The credit terms of the trade receivables range from 1 to 90 days (2013: 1 to 90 days).

The amounts due from subsidiaries of RM7.5 million (2013: RM6.0 million) are interest free, unsecured and are
repayable on demand. 

In addition to the above, the amount due from a subsidiary includes a balance amounting to RM20.2 million
(2013: RM16.5 million) which is unsecured, denominated in Ringgit Malaysia and is interest-bearing.

During the financial year, the Company recorded an allowance for doubtful debts amounting to RM1.5 million
for amounts due from several subsidiaries as the amounts were deemed to be irrecoverable as the entities
remained dormant as at financial year end.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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12 DEPOSITS, CASH AND BANK BALANCES

                                                                                                          Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Deposits with licensed financial institutions                                 520                 515                 172              167
Cash and bank balances                                                          5,799              3,465                   43                18

                                                                                                 6,319              3,980                 215              185
                                                                            

Bank balances are held at call with licensed banks and earn no interest. Included in deposits with licensed
financial institutions are bank deposit placements with tenure of 1 year (2013: 1 year).
                                                                            
The weighted average interest rates that were effective at the reporting date are as follows:

                                                                                                           Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                        % per             % per             % per          % per
                                                                                                      annum           annum           annum        annum

Deposits with licensed financial institutions 3.15 3.29 3.15 3.20
                                                                            

For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Cash and bank balances                                                          5,799              3,465                   43                18

13 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

                                                                                                                                                                 Group
                                                                                                                                                2014            2013
                                                                                                                                           RM’000       RM’000

Non-current assets held for sale                                                                                                    0           6,405

In the prior financial year, property, plant and equipment amounting to RM6.4 million have been reclassified to
non-current assets held for sale. During the financial year ended 31 December 2014, the Group completed the
sale transaction of the non-current assets held for sale. The assets were sold for a total cash consideration of
RM23.0 million. The Group recorded a net gain from disposal of non-current assets held for sale of RM16.1
million, net of selling cost of RM0.5 million.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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14 SHARE CAPITAL

                                                                                                                                 Group and Company
                                                                                                                                                2014            2013
                                                                                                                                           RM’000       RM’000

Authorised:
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1 each                                                                  1,000,000    1,000,000

Issued and fully paid:
210,000,000 ordinary share of RM1 each                                                                          210,000       210,000

15 RESERVES

                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Non-distributable:
Share premium                                                                       5,866              5,866              5,866           5,866
Foreign currency reserve                                                            (43)                (43)                    0                  0

                                                                                                 5,823              5,823              5,866           5,866
Distributable:

Retained earnings                                                                  57,744            39,019            79,516         82,505

                                                                                               63,567            44,842            85,382         88,371

16 EMPLOYEE DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN

Defined benefit plan of the Group

The Group and the Company have a non-contributory unfunded retirement benefit scheme for those employees
who are eligible under the company employment policy. The retirement benefit plans of the Group and the
Company are not funded and therefore there are no plan assets or actual returns on plan assets.

The level of benefits provided depends on members’ length of service and their salary in the final years leading
up to retirement or in the year of resignation.

The latest actuarial valuations of the plan were carried out on 16 January 2015.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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16 EMPLOYEE DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN (CONTINUED)

Defined benefit plan of the Group (Continued)

The movements during the financial year in the amounts recognised in the Group’s and the Company’s
statements of financial position are as follows:

                                                                                                                                                       
                                                                                                                                             Group   Company

                                                                                                                                                   RM’000       RM’000

Non-current

At 1 January 2013                                                                                                                 10,086              298
Charged to the profit or loss (Note 22)                                                                                    1,351                82
                                                                            
Benefits paid                                                                                                                             (921)             (26)

At 31 December 2013                                                                                                           10,516              354

Charged to the profit or loss (Note 22)                                                                                    1,425                88
Remeasurements (recognised in other comprehensive income):
-  Gain due to experience of the Scheme                                                                                 (194)               (6)
-  Gain due to change in actuarial assumptions                                                                       (654)             (47)

                                                                                                                                                 (848)             (53)
                                                                            
Benefits paid                                                                                                                             (137)                0

At 31 December 2014                                                                                                           10,956              389

The expenses recognised in the profit or loss may be analysed as follows:

                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Current service cost                                                                     856                 833                   69                67
Interest cost                                                                                 569                 518                   19                15

                                                                                                 1,425              1,351                   88                82

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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16 EMPLOYEE DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN (CONTINUED)

Defined benefit plan of the Group (continued)

The principal actuarial assumptions used in respect of the Group’s and the Company’s defined benefit plan are
as follows:

                                                                                                                                                2014            2013
                                                                                                                                                             %                %

Discount rates 5.50 5.25
Expected rate of salary increases 6.20 7.50

The sensitivity of the defined benefit plan as at 31 December 2014 to changes in the principal assumptions is
as follows:

Change in 
assumption Impact on defined benefit obligation

Group
Discount rates Increase by 1% Decrease by RM913,936

Decrease by 1% Increase by RM1,047,890
Expected rate of salary increases Increase by 1% Increase by RM1,030,397

Decrease by 1% Decrease by RM916,371

Company
Discount rates Increase by 1% Decrease by RM24,055

Decrease by 1% Increase by RM27,559
Expected rate of salary increases Increase by 1% Increase by RM27,092

Decrease by 1% Decrease by RM24,120

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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16 EMPLOYEE DEFINED BENEFIT PLAN (CONTINUED)

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When
calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions, the same method
(present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the
reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised in the statement of
financial position.

As at 31 December 2014, the Group’s and the Company’s weighted average duration of the defined benefit
obligation are 10 years (2013: 12 years) and 8 years (2013: 9 years) respectively.

Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted pension obligation as at the reporting dates:

Less than Between Between Over
a year 1 - 2 years 2 - 5 years 5 years Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group

At 31 December 2014 714 1,180 2,305 40,836 45,035
At 31 December 2013 588 694 2,595 29,973 33,850

Company

At 31 December 2014 42 146 34 1,789 2,011
At 31 December 2013 54 115 23 742 934

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

17 BORROWINGS

                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Current

Term loan (secured)                                                                46,655            73,937            46,655         73,937
Term loan (unsecured)                                                                 600                 600                     0                  0
Bankers’ acceptance (unsecured)                                            47,970            49,286                     0                  0
Foreign currency trade financing (unsecured)                              618                 323                     0                  0
Revolving credit (unsecured)                                                    5,000              5,000                     0                  0
Hire-purchase obligations                                                              37                     0                   37                  0

                                                                                             100,880          129,146            46,692         73,937
Bank overdraft (unsecured)                                                              0              4,861                     0                  0

                                                                                             100,880          134,007            46,692         73,937

Non-current

Term loan (unsecured)                                                                 350                 950                     0                  0
Hire-purchase obligations                                                              30                     0                   30                  0

                                                                                                    380                 950                   30                  0

Total

Term loan (secured)                                                                46,655            73,937            46,655         73,937
Term loan (unsecured)                                                                 950              1,550                     0                  0
Bankers’ acceptance (unsecured)                                            47,970            49,286                     0                  0
Foreign currency trade financing (unsecured)                              618                 323                     0                  0
Revolving credit (unsecured)                                                    5,000              5,000                     0                  0
Hire-purchase obligations                                                              67                     0                   67                  0
Bank overdraft (unsecured)                                                              0              4,861                     0                  0

                                                                                              101,260          134,957            46,722         73,937

Bank overdraft, certain term loan, foreign currency trade financing and bankers’ acceptance facilities are utilised
to finance the working capital.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

17 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The terms and debt repayment schedule of the borrowings are as follows:

                                                                                                                                                                           
                                                                      Year of         Carrying            Within                1 - 2            2 - 5
                                                                     maturity          amount            1 year              years          years

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Group
2014
Term loan (secured)                                         2017               46,655            46,655                     0                  0
Term loan (unsecured)                                     2016                    950                 600                 350                  0
Bankers’ acceptance
(unsecured)                                                    2015                47,970            47,970                     0                  0

Foreign currency trade
financing (unsecured)                                   2015                    618                 618                     0                  0

Revolving credit (unsecured)                            2015                 5,000              5,000                     0                  0
Hire-purchase obligations                                2015                      67                   37                   30                  0

                                                                                              101,260          100,880                 380                  0

2013
Term loan (secured)                                         2017               73,937            73,937                     0                  0
Term loan (unsecured)                                     2016                 1,550                 600                 600              350
Bankers’ acceptance

(unsecured)                                                   2014               49,286            49,286                     0                  0
Bank overdraft (unsecured)                              2014                 4,861              4,861                     0                  0
Foreign currency trade

financing (unsecured)                                   2014                    323                 323                     0                  0
Revolving credit (unsecured)                            2014                 5,000              5,000                     0                  0

                                                                                             134,957          134,007                 600              350

Company
2014
Term loan (secured)                                         2017               46,655            46,655                     0                  0
Hire-purchase obligations                                2015                      67                   37                   30                  0

                                                                                               46,722            46,692                   30                  0
                                                                            

2013
Term loan (secured)                                         2017               73,937            73,937                     0                  0
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

17 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

Interests on borrowings which are subject to floating interest rates are contractually repriced at intervals
between 1 to 3 months.

The carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate fair value at 31 December 2014.

The weighted average interest rates of the borrowings at the reporting date are as follows:

                                                                                                        Group                                     Company
                                                                               2014                    2013                     2014                     2013

                                                                        % per annum     % per annum      % per annum      % per annum

Bank overdraft (unsecured)                                          0                      7.35                          0                          0
Term loan (secured)                                                6.80                     5.83                     6.80                     5.83
Term loan (unsecured)                                            5.64                     5.49                          0                          0
Bankers’ acceptance (unsecured)                   4.05-5.35             3.94-5.35                          0                          0
Revolving credit (unsecured)                           5.50-5.85             5.20-5.45                          0                          0
Foreign currency trade financing

(unsecured)                                                   1.50-1.85              1.62-2.15                          0                          0
Hire-purchase obligations                                      10.20                          0                    10.20                          0

As at 31 December 2014, the Group and the Company have a secured term loan with an outstanding amount
of RM46.7 million (2013: RM73.9 million). RM26.5 million (2013: RM57.4 million) of this term loan has been
reclassified from non-current liabilities to current liabilities as at the reporting date. The reclassification arose as
a result of a breach in one of the financial covenant provisions under the term loan agreement (i.e. the debt
service coverage ratio), in accordance with MFRS 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’. The immediate
holding company has provided a corporate guarantee to the Company’s bank in respect of the said term loan.
As at 31 December 2014, certain property, plant and equipment of a subsidiary of the Company have been
charged as securities to the term loan (Note 6).

The Group did not default in any repayment of principals and interests in respect of this term loan during the
financial year.

Subsequent to year end, a second fixed charge over the leasehold lands in Gebeng and Kuala Lipis held by the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Mieco Manufacturing Sdn. Bhd., and all of Mieco Manufacturing Sdn. Bhd.’s
plant and machinery both present and future, affixed to or in the said lands was created to secure certain bankers’
acceptance and revolving credit facilities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

18 AMOUNT DUE TO IMMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

The immediate holding company is BRDB Developments Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as Bandar Raya
Developments Sdn Bhd), a private company incorporated in Malaysia.

Amount due to the immediate holding company is denominated in Ringgit Malaysia, unsecured and is
subordinated to the prior repayment of a term loan. The weighted average interest rate on the amount due to
the immediate holding company as at the reporting date was 5.35% (2013: 5.35%) per annum.

The carrying amount of the amount due to immediate holding company approximates fair values as at the
reporting date.

19 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

                                                                                                                                                                           
                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

                                                                            
Trade payables                                                                        45,366            58,617                     0                  0
Accrued expenses                                                                    1,227                 909                     0                  0
Other payables                                                                        17,762            14,880              1,069           1,400
Amounts due to subsidiaries                                                            0                     0              3,426           3,432
Amount due to immediate holding company                             3,893              3,491              3,893           3,491
Amounts due to related companies                                         10,944              1,281                     0                  0
Payroll liabilities                                                                         1,218              1,037                   80              142

                                                                                               80,410            80,215              8,468           8,465

Amounts due to subsidiaries, immediate holding company, and related companies are unsecured, interest free
and repayable on demand. Subsequent to the reporting date, the immediate holding company and the related
companies have issued letters of undertaking to the Company not to recall the current portion of the amount
due to the immediate holding company and amounts due to related companies for the next twelve months from
the reporting date.

The credit terms of trade and other payables range from 1 to 90 days (2013: 1 to 90 days).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s derivatives comprise solely of foreign exchange forward contracts incepted to hedge its currency
exposures arising from purchases of raw materials in USD. The foreign exchange forward contracts generally
have a maturity period between 1 to 6 months.

The Group does not apply hedge accounting.

Details of the Group’s derivative financial instruments are outlined below:

                                                                                                                                                                 Group
                                                                                                                                                2014            2013

                                                                                                                                                   RM’000       RM’000

Foreign forward exchange contracts                                                                                       1,328              245

                                                                                    
       At 31 December 2014, the Group’s foreign exchange forward contracts entered into are as follows:

2014
Currency Average

to be RM’000 contractual
Hedged items received equivalent rate

Trade receivables US Dollar
2.991 million 10,534 3.5215

Future sales of goods US Dollar
2.023 million 7,124 3.5215

17,658

2013
Currency Average

to be RM’000 contractual
Hedged items received equivalent rate

Trade receivables US Dollar
3.648 million 11,833 3.2433

Future sales of goods US Dollar
1.628 million 5,288 3.2475

17,121
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

20 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The derivative loss arising from the outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts as at 31 December 2014
is RM1.3 million (2013: derivative loss of RM0.2 million). This amount has been recorded in the statement of
financial position of the Group.

Foreign exchange forward contracts are entered into with licensed banks to hedge the Group’s exposure to
foreign exchange risk in respect of its export sales and imported purchases by establishing the rate at which
foreign currency assets or liabilities will be settled.

These contracts are executed with credit-worthy/reputable financial institutions in Malaysia. As such, credit risk
and liquidity risk in respect of non-performance by counterparties to these contracts are minimal.

21 REVENUE

                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Sale of goods                                                                        321,889          294,713                     0                  0
Management fee receivable from subsidiaries                                0                     0              3,358           3,834

                                                                                             321,889          294,713              3,358           3,834

22 STAFF COSTS

                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Wages, salaries and bonuses                                                  17,817            16,342              1,787           1,725
Defined contribution plan                                                          2,408              2,234                 236              226
Defined retirement benefit plan (Note 16)                                 1,425              1,351                   88                82
Other employee benefits                                                           8,863              8,091                 161              230

                                                                                               30,513            28,018              2,272           2,263

Details of the defined benefit plan for the Group and the Company are set out in Note 16 to the financial
statements.

Included in staff costs above are the Group’s and the Company’s former Executive Director’s remuneration,
excluding fees and estimated money value of benefits-in-kind, as further disclosed in Note 27 to the financial
statements.
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23 PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS

                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

The following items have been charged/
(credited) in arriving at profit/(loss) from
operations:

Auditors’ remuneration (Note 28):
- current financial year                                                                 291                 298                   80                80
- under provision of prior financial year                                          25                   19                     0                14
Rental of building                                                                         360                 251                     0                  0
Disposal of non-current assets held

for sale (Note 13):
- gain on disposal                                                               (16,595)                    0                     0                  0
- legal and professional fees                                                    461                     0                     0                  0

(Write back of allowance for)/
allowance for inventories obsolescence                                 (155)             2,525                     0                  0

Inventories written off                                                                    44                 725                     0                  0
General insurance                                                                    1,188              1,345                   39                47
Packing costs                                                                            4,697              4,883                     0                  0
Management fees                                                                        400                 400                 400              400
Unrealised loss/(gain) on foreign

exchange
- borrowings                                                                              670              1,385                 670           1,385
- amount due from a subsidiary                                                    0                     0                (670)        (1,385)
- others                                                                                        10                (367)                  24                  0

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts,
net of recovery                                                                              0                     0              1,454                  0

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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24 FINANCE COSTS AND FINANCE INCOME

                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Finance costs

Interest expense on:
- Bank overdraft                                                                            127                 153                     0                  0
- Bankers’ acceptance                                                               2,464              2,260                     0                  0
- Hire purchase liabilities                                                                  1                     0                     1                  0
- Term loans                                                                              4,151              4,991              4,082           4,890
- Borrowings from immediate holding company                        1,837              1,820              1,837           1,820
- Revolving credit                                                                         282                 268                     0                  0
- Foreign currency trade financing                                                   9                     9                     0                  0
Loan facility fees                                                                            30                 234                   30                30

                                                                                                 8,901              9,735              5,950           6,740
Less: offsetting                                                                                 0                     0             (5,902)        (6,710)

                                                                                                 8,901              9,735                   48                30

Finance income

Recovery of interest from a subsidiary
in respect of term loan                                                                  0                     0             (4,082)        (4,890)

Recovery of interest from a subsidiary
in respect of borrowings from
immediate holding company                                                         0                     0             (1,820)        (1,820)

Interest income                                                                               (2)                (28)                    0              (27)

                                                                                                       (2)                (28)            (5,902)        (6,737)
Less: offsetting                                                                                 0                     0              5,902           6,710

                                                                                                       (2)                (28)                    0              (27)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

25 TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT

                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Tax (expense)/credit for the financial year:

In respect of the current year
- Malaysian income tax                                                               (647)              (789)                    0                  0
- Real property gain tax                                                              (532)                    0                     0                  0
- Deferred tax (Note 9)                                                                (386)             4,664                (331)             (86)

                                                                                                (1,565)             3,875                (331)             (86)
Over accrual in respect of prior year
- Malaysian income tax                                                                    1              2,664                     0           2,602

                                                                                                (1,564)             6,539                (331)          2,516

The effective tax rates of the Group and the Company differ from the statutory income tax rate of
25% (2013: 25%) and are reconciled as below:

                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                               %                   %                    %                %

Statutory income tax rate of Malaysia                                            25                  (25)                 (25)             (25)
Effects of:
-   Income not subjected to tax                                                     (21)                    0                     0                  0
-   Expenses not deductible for tax purposes                                   2                     3                   24                25
-   Utilisation of previously unrecognised

tax losses                                                                                 (3)                    0                     0                  0
-   Real property gain tax                                                                 3                     0                     0                  0
-   Changes in tax rate                                                                     0                    (4)                    0                  0
-   Unutilised capital allowances for which

no deferred income tax was recognised                                   0                   19                     0                  0
-   Tax losses for which no deferred 

income tax asset was recognised                                             0                     2                     1                  0
-   Reversal of deferred tax asset

recognised in prior financial year                                              2                     0                   12                  0
-   Over accrual in prior year                                                            0                    (4)                    0                (6)

Effective tax rate                                                                              8                    (9)                  12                (6)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

26 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

The earnings or loss per share of the Group is calculated based on the profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company of RM17.9 million (2013: loss attributable to equity holders of RM63.6 million) divided by the weighted
average number of 210.0 million (2013: 210.0 million) ordinary shares in issue during the financial year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue has not been adjusted to assume dilution as the
Group does not issue any financial instruments or other contract that may entitle its holders to ordinary shares.
Accordingly, the diluted earnings/(loss) per share is the same as basic earnings/(loss) per share.

27 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Directors of the Company
Non-executive Directors:
- fees                                                                                              75                   98                   75                98
- allowances and other emoluments                                              39                   46                   39                46
- estimated money value of benefits-in-kind                                    0                     5                     0                  5

                                                                                                     114                 149                  114              149

Executive Director:
- fees – over provision of prior year’s fees                                    (36)                    0                  (36)                0
- salaries and bonus                                                                    412                 546                 412              546
- defined contribution plan                                                             50                   66                   50                66
- other employee benefits                                                               15                   48                   15                48
- estimated money value of benefits-in-kind                                    9                   17                     9                17

                                                                                                    450                 677                 450              677

Sub-total                                                                                      564                 826                 564              826

Directors of subsidiaries
Non-executive Directors:
- fees                                                                                                6                     6                     0                  0

Sub-total                                                                                          6                     6                     0                  0

Total                                                                                             570                 832                 564              826
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

27 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Total (excluding estimated money
value of benefits-in-kind)                                                              561                 810                 555              804

As stated in Note 22 to the financial statements, the Group’s and the Company’s former Executive Directors’
remuneration (excluding fees and estimated money value of benefits-in-kind) have been included as part of staff
costs.

28 AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

PricewaterhouseCoopers Malaysia 
- statutory audit                                                                         167                 167                   63                63
- other services                                                                           17                   17                   17                17

Firms other than PricewaterhouseCoopers,
Malaysia and member firms of
PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited                         107                 114                     0                  0

                                                                                                    291                 298                   80                80
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

29 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

                                                                                                                                                                 Group
                                                                                                                                                2014            2013

                                                                                                                                                   RM’000       RM’000

Capital expenditure:
- approved and contracted for                                                                                                        0              344
- approved but not contracted for                                                                                          13,270                13

                                                                                                                                             13,270              357

Analysed as follows:
-  property, plant and equipment                                                                                           13,270              357

There is no capital commitment for the Company as at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013.

30 NON-CANCELLABLE OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group leases an office space under a non-cancellable operating lease agreement and the lease agreement
is renewable at the end of the lease period at market rate.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease are as follows:

                                                                                                                                                2014            2013
                                                                                                                                                   RM’000       RM’000

No later than 1 year                                                                                                                    211                  0
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years                                                                               211                  0

                                                                                                                                                  422                  0
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

31 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

In addition to related party disclosures mentioned elsewhere in the financial statements, set out below are other
significant related party transactions and balances. The related party transactions described below were carried
out on terms and conditions negotiated between the Group and the related parties.

(a) Relationship with related parties

Related parties Relationship

Ambang Sehati Sdn. Bhd. Ultimate holding company
BRDB Developments Sdn. Bhd.

(formerly known as Bandar Raya
Developments Sdn. Bhd.) Immediate holding company

BR Property Holdings Sdn. Bhd. Wholly-owned subsidiary of 
BRDB Developments Sdn. Bhd.
(formerly known as Bandar Raya
Developments Sdn. Bhd.)

Sierra Gardens Sdn. Bhd. A company which a Director of a 
subsidiary company has financial 
interest

Mieco Manufacturing Sdn. Bhd. Wholly-owned subsidiary
Mieco Marketing Sdn. Bhd. Wholly-owned subsidiary

(b) Significant transactions with related parties

                                                                                                              Group                       Company
                                                                                          2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

BRDB Developments Sdn. Bhd.
(formerly known as Bandar Raya
(Developments Sdn. Bhd.)

(i) Management fee payable
to immediate holding company                                    400                 400                 400              400

(ii) Interest expense on borrowings from
immediate holding company                                     1,837              1,820              1,837           1,820

BR Property Holdings Sdn. Bhd.
(i) Rental of office building                                                272                 251                     0                  0
                                                                    
Mieco Manufacturing Sdn. Bhd.
(i) Interest income on borrowings to a subsidiary                 0                     0              5,902           6,710

(ii) Management fee receivable from a subsidiary                0                     0               2,749           3,173
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

31 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONTINUED)

(b) Significant transactions with related parties (continued)

                                                                                                              Group                       Company
                                                                                          2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Mieco Marketing Sdn. Bhd.
(i) Management fee receivable from a subsidiary                0                     0                 588              641

(c) Significant balances with related parties

                                                                                                              Group                       Company
                                                                                          2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Amount due to related parties

BRDB Developments Sdn. Bhd.
(formerly known as Bandar Raya
Developments Sdn. Bhd.)                                            48,767            46,529            48,767         46,529

BR Property Holdings Sdn. Bhd.                                       1,281              1,281                     0                  0

Sierra Gardens Sdn. Bhd.                                                 9,663(1)                  0                     0                  0

Tudor Capital Sdn. Bhd.                                                           0                     0               3,411           3,411

Amount due from related parties

Mieco Manufacturing Sdn. Bhd.                                               0                     0          384,656       411,770

Mieco Marketing Sdn. Bhd.                                                      0                     0              5,337           3,860

(1)  Amount due to Sierra Gardens Sdn. Bhd. arose from a transaction prior to the entity becoming a related party of
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

31 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES (CONTINUED)

(d) Compensation of key management personnel

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any Director of the Company.

The remuneration of the former Executive Director and other members of key management during the
financial year were as follows:

                                                                                                              Group                       Company
                                                                                          2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Remuneration and benefits                                               1,594              1,699              1,245           1,386
Post-employment benefits                                                    185                 189                 148              155

                                                                                         1,779              1,888              1,393           1,541

32 OPERATING SEGMENT 

The Group operates principally within one segment, that is, manufacturing and sales of wood based products.
Other operation of the Group comprises investment holding which is not of sufficient size to be reported
separately. This is consistent with the internally generated reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-
maker to make strategic decisions.

The Group operates in the following geographical areas.

                                                                                                                                                          Revenue
                                                                                                                                                2014            2013

                                                                                                                                                   RM’000       RM’000

Malaysia                                                                                                                              242,831       202,171
Hong Kong and China                                                                                                          19,522         22,128
Others                                                                                                                                   59,536         70,414

                                                                                                                                           321,889       294,713
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

32 OPERATING SEGMENT (CONTINUED)

                                                                                                          Total Assets         Capital expenditure
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Malaysia                                                                                512,394          523,790              3,710           4,554
Others                                                                                              1                   23                     0                  0

                                                                                             512,395          523,813              3,710           4,554

The carrying value of non-current assets located in foreign countries is not material as at the reporting date.

33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

                                                                                                                                        Financial
                                                                                                                Derivative    liabilities at
                                                                                        Loans and        financial      amortised                    
                                                                                       receivables       liabilities                cost           Total

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Group 
As at 31 December 2014

Financial assets per statement of 
financial position:
Receivables and deposits 

(excluding prepayments)                                                   57,284                     0                     0         57,284
Deposits, cash and bank balances                                        6,319                     0                     0           6,319

                                                                                               63,603                     0                     0         63,603

Financial liabilities per statement of 
financial position:
Amount due to immediate holding 

company                                                                                      0                     0             44,874         44,874
Borrowings                                                                                     0                     0           101,260       101,260
Trade and other payables(1)                                                            0                     0            79,891         79,891
Derivative financial instruments                                                     0              1,328                     0           1,328

                                                                                                        0              1,328          226,025       227,353



110 MIECO CH IPBOARD  BERHAD A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 01 4

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)

33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

                                                                                                                                        Financial
                                                                                                                Derivative    liabilities at
                                                                                        Loans and        financial      amortised                    
                                                                                       receivables       liabilities                cost           Total

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

As at 31 December 2013

Financial assets per statement of 
financial position:
Receivables and deposits 
(excluding prepayments)                                                     54,714                     0                     0         54,714

Deposits, cash and bank balances                                         3,980                     0                     0           3,980

                                                                                               58,694                     0                     0         58,694

Financial liabilities per statement of 
financial position:
Amount due to immediate holding 

company – non-current                                                                0                     0            43,038         43,038
Borrowings                                                                                     0                     0          134,957       134,957
Trade and other payables(1)                                                            0                     0            79,858         79,858
Derivative financial instruments                                                     0                 245                     0              245

                                                                                                        0                 245           257,853       258,098

Company

As at 31 December 2014

Financial assets per statement of 
financial position:
Amount due from a subsidiary

- non-current                                                                       71,376                     0                     0         71,376
Receivables and deposits 
(excluding prepayments)                                                     25,590                     0                     0         25,590

Deposits, cash and bank balances                                            215                     0                     0              215

                                                                                                97,181                     0                     0         97,181
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33 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED)

                                                                                                                                        Financial
                                                                                                                Derivative    liabilities at
                                                                                        Loans and        financial      amortised                    
                                                                                       receivables       liabilities                cost           Total

                                                                                                     RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Financial liabilities per statement of 
financial position:
Amount due to immediate holding 

company – non-current                                                                0                     0             44,874         44,874
Borrowings                                                                                     0                     0            46,722         46,722
Trade and other payables(1)                                                            0                     0              8,432           8,432

                                                                                                        0                     0           100,028       100,028

As at 31 December 2013

Financial assets per statement of 
financial position:
Amount due from a subsidiary

- non-current                                                                      100,476                     0                     0       100,476
Receivables and deposits 

(excluding prepayments)                                                     21,861                     0                     0         21,861
Deposits, cash and bank balances                                            185                     0                     0              185

                                                                                             122,522                     0                     0       122,522

Financial liabilities per statement of 
financial position:
Amount due to immediate holding 

company – non-current                                                                0                     0            43,038         43,038
Borrowings                                                                                     0                     0            73,937         73,937
Trade and other payables(1)                                                            0                     0              8,428           8,428

                                                                                                        0                     0          125,403       125,403

(1) Non-financial liabilities are excluded from the trade and other payables balances as this analysis is required only for
financial instruments.
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34 EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Proposed disposal by BRDB Developments Sdn. Bhd. (formerly known as Bandar Raya Developments Sdn.
Bhd.) [“BRDB”] of shares in the Company

On 21 January 2015, BRDB, the immediate holding company, entered into a Conditional Letter of Agreement
with Purnama Kuantum Sdn. Bhd. (“PKSB”) for the proposed disposal of 119,193,971 ordinary shares of RM1.00
each in the Company (“MIECO Shares”) to PKSB. The proposed disposal is conditional upon:

(i) the approval of Securities Commission Malaysia (“SC”) under paragraph 21.1 of Practice Note 9 of the
Malaysian Code on Take-overs and Mergers 2010 for PKSB to be exempted from the obligation to undertake
a mandatory offer to acquire all the remaining ordinary shares of RM1.00 each in the Company which are
not already held by PKSB arising from its proposed purchase of the MIECO Shares (“Proposed Exemption”);
and

(ii) the relevant consents of the banks of the Group and BRDB.

On 25 February 2015, PKSB obtained approval from the SC for the Proposed Exemption. As at the date of the
issuance of this report, the relevant consents of the banks of the Group and BRDB are still pending.
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35 SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION – BREAKDOWN OF RETAINED EARNINGS INTO REALISED AND
UNREALISED

The breakdown of the retained earnings of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2014 into realised
and unrealised profits is presented in accordance with the directive issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
dated 25 March 2010 and prepared in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of
Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

                                                                                                                      Group                       Company
                                                                                                  2014               2013                2014            2013
                                                                                             RM’000          RM’000          RM’000       RM’000

Total retained earnings of the Company 
and its subsidiaries

- Realised                                                                                52,641            30,906             74,944         77,199
- Unrealised                                                                              6,288              7,008              4,572           5,306

                                                                                               58,929             37,914            79,516         82,505
Add: Consolidation adjustments                                              (1,185)             1,105                     0                  0

Retained earnings as per financial statements                        57,744            39,019            79,516         82,505

The disclosure of realised and unrealised profits above is solely for compliance with the directive issued by Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad and should not be used for any other purpose.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014 (Cont’d)
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We, Krishnan A/L Periyasamy and Low Kim Seng, two of the Directors of Mieco Chipboard Berhad, state that, in the
opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 37 to 112 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2014 and of the results and cash
flows for the financial year ended on that date in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards,
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

The information set out in Note 35 on page 113 to the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the Guidance on Special Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of
Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute
of Accountants.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with their resolution dated 24 April 2015.

KRISHNAN A/L PERIYASAMY LOW KIM SENG
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

I, Wong Weng Kwong, the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of Mieco Chipboard Berhad, do
solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements set out on pages 37 to 113 are, in my opinion, correct
and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of
the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

WONG WENG KWONG

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the above named Wong Weng Kwong at Kuala Lumpur on
24 April 2015.

Before me,

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS

STATUTORY DECLARATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 169(16) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965

STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS
PURSUANT TO SECTION 169(15) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 1965
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the financial statements of Mieco Chipboard Berhad on pages 37 to 112 which comprise the
statements of financial position as at 31 December 2014 of the Group and of the Company, and the statements of
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the Group and of the
Company for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes as set out on Notes 1 to 34.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements so as to give a true and fair
view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and
the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view  in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF MIECO CHIPBOARD BERHAD

(Incorporated in Malaysia)
(Company no: 12849 K)
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and the Company
as of 31 December 2014 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then ended in
accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the
requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 2 to these financial statements, which states that as at 31 December 2014, the Group’s
and the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by RM71.1 million and RM29.0 million respectively.
This, along with other matters as described in Note 2, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the ability of the Group and the Company to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not
qualified in respect of this matter.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the following:

(a) In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the Company
and its subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions
of the Act.

(b) We have considered the financial statements and the auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries of which we have
not acted as auditors, which are indicated in Note 7 to the financial statements. 

(c) We are satisfied that the financial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the Company’s
financial statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by
us for those purposes. 

(d) The audit reports on the financial statements of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse
comment made under Section 174(3) of the Act.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF MIECO CHIPBOARD BERHAD (Cont’d)
(Incorporated in Malaysia)
(Company no: 12849 K)
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OTHER REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

The supplementary information set out in Note 35 on page 113 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised and
Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing
Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

OTHER MATTERS

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for
the content of this report.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS NG GAN HOOI
(No. AF: 1146) (No. 2914/04/15 (J))
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur
24 April 2015

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE MEMBERS OF MIECO CHIPBOARD BERHAD (Cont’d)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)
(Company no: 12849 K)
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Authorised Capital                   :      RM1,000,000,000
Issued and Paid-up Capital     :      RM210,000,000
Class of Shares                      :      Ordinary Shares of RM1.00 each
Voting Rights                           : 1 vote per ordinary share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

No. Of Holders % Of Holders No. Of Shares % Of Shares

Largest Shareholders 30 0.51 148,542,498 70.73

Size of Holdings
Less than 100 912 15.44 30,028 0.01
100 - 1,000 1,362 23.07 1,277,301 0.61
1,001 - 10,000 2,527 42.79 12,518,358 5.96
10,001 - 100,000 984 16.66 32,362,215 15.41
100,001 - less than 5% of issued shares 119 2.02 44,618,127 21.25
5% and above of issued shares 1 0.02 119,193,971 56.76

Total 5,905 100.00 210,000,000 100.00

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES BASED ON THE REGISTER OF DIRECTORS' SHAREHOLDINGS

Direct Interest               Indirect Interest
No. Of Shares % No. Of Shares %

In the Company
Lt. Gen. (R) Dato' Seri Mohamed Daud 

Bin Abu Bakar 16,000 0.01 –  – 

Dato' Dr Amarjit Singh A/L Santokh Singh 100,000 0.05 70,000 ** 0.03 **

Low Kim Seng 10,000 0.00 *

* Neglible percentage
** Indirect interest held through spouse

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
AS AT 17 APRIL 2015
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THIRTY (30) MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS BASED ON THE RECORD OF DEPOSITORS

Name Shareholding %

1) BRDB Developments Sdn Bhd 119,193,971 56.76

2) HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 10,208,900 4.86
[Exempt AN for Coutts & Co Ltd (SG Branch)]

3) JF Apex Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 2,466,900 1.17
[Pledged Securities Account for Ng Ah Chai (Margin)]

4) Azlina Binti Abdul Rahim 2,065,900 0.98

5) Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,212,500 0.58
[Pledged Securities Account for Ooi Chin Hock (8058312)]

6) M & A Nominee (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,097,100 0.52
[Titan Express Sdn Bhd]

7) Kenanga Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 1,070,000 0.51
[Pledged Securities Account for Ng Yew Lee (MGN)]

8) Lim Lee Ling 720,000 0.34

9) Pang Kee Hwa 698,400 0.33

10) Tam Shuk Yi 667,000 0.32

11) Maybank Securities Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 641,900 0.31
[Pledged Securities Account for Leong Chee Kwong (REM 825)]

12) JF Apex Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 600,000 0.29
[Pledged Securities Account for Teo Kwee Hock (STA 1)]

13) Ooi Chin Hock 536,600 0.26

14) Maybank Securities Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 528,800 0.25
[Pledged Securities Account for Ting Yuet May (REM 825)]

15) RHB Capital Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 512,000 0.24
[Pledged Securities Account for Loke See Ooi (CEB)]

16) Affin Hwang Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 500,000 0.24
[Pledged Securities Account for Teh Poo Seng (M02)]

17) UOB Kay Hian Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 480,000 0.23
[Exempt AN for UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd (A/C Clients)]

18) Maybank Securities Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 474,000 0.23
[Pleged Securities Account for Nyiam Seng Kwee (REM 825)]

19) Lim Meow Fatt 468,000 0.22

20) Malacca Equity Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 463,500 0.22
[Exempt AN for Phillip Capital Management Sdn Bhd (EPF)]

21) Alliancegroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 460,000 0.22
[Pledged Securities Account for Chan Chin Sun (8118032)]

22) AMSEC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 455,000 0.22
[Pledged Securities Account for Nicholas Lau Lee Yau]

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
AS AT 17 APRIL 2015 (Cont’d)
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THIRTY (30) MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS BASED ON THE RECORD OF DEPOSITORS (CONTINUED)

Name Shareholding %

23) Lee Thian Fook @ Lee Tian Fook 421,000 0.20

24) Alliancegroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd 420,000 0.20
[Pledged Securities Account for Lim Goid Lian (8092634)]

25) Shoptra Jaya (M) Sdn Bhd 402,000 0.19

26) Lim Chin Horng 400,000 0.19

27) Thong Weng Tim 359,300 0.17

28) JF Apex Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 349,700 0.17
[Pledged Securities Account for Seow Soon Fat]

29) TA Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 342,000 0.16
[Pledged Securities Account for Koay Ean Chim]

30) Tan Kim Eng 328,027 0.16

Total 148,542,498 70.73

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS BASED ON THE REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Direct Interest               Indirect Interest
No. Of Shares % No. Of Shares %

BRDB Developments Sdn Bhd 119,193,971 56.76 – –
(formerly known as Bandar Raya 
Developments Sdn Bhd)

Ambang Sehati Sdn Bhd – – 119,193,971 56.76(a)

Dato' Mohamed Moiz Bin J M Ali Moiz – – 119,193,971 56.76(b)

Abdul Sathar Bin M S M Abdul Kadir – – 119,193,971 56.76(c)

Sascha Saleem Khan – – 119,193,971 56.76(d)

Tania Aishah Khan – – 119,193,971 56.76(e)

Notes
(a) Deemed interest by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act 1965 held through BRDB Developments Sdn Bhd.
(b) Deemed interest by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act 1965 held through 26% shareholding in Ambang

Sehati Sdn Bhd ("ASSB").
(c) Deemed interest by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act 1965 held through 25% shareholding in ASSB.
(d) Deemed interest by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act 1965 held through 24.5% shareholding in ASSB.
(e) Deemed interest by virtue of Section 6A(4) of the Companies Act 1965 held through 24.5% shareholding in ASSB.

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS 
AS AT 17 APRIL 2015 (Cont’d)
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LIST OF PROPERTIES
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014

                                                                                                                  Approximate                                 
                                                                                                                                age of        Net book              Balance 
                                                                                                                              building         value       Acquisition of lease
Location                                        Tenure         Land area        Description       (Years)         RM’000            date by Years 

PAHANG

Lot 73, Gebeng Industrial Area       Lease           653,670        Industrial land                           5,632        26.10.1999 34
26080 Kuantan                              expiring             sq.ft.
Pahang Darul Makmur                18.08.2048

Lot 74, Gebeng Industrial Area       Lease          1,254,528     Chipboard factory    12-20          35,778       24.08.1995 83
26080 Kuantan                              expiring             sq.ft.          & Industrial Land
Pahang Darul Makmur               22.02.2097

Lot 3, Kawasan Perindustrian         Lease          2,178,000     Chipboard factory      10             68,289       05.12.2004 90
Kechau Tui, 27100 Lipis                expiring             sq.ft.          & Industrial Land
Pahang Darul Makmur                     2104

Lot 27, Kawasan Perindustrian       Lease           158,253         Industrial land                             218         20.12.2006 91
Kechau Tui, Lipis                           expiring             sq.ft.
Pahang Darul Makmur                20.12.2105

Lot 28, Kawasan Perindustrian       Lease           299,257         Industrial land                             412         20.12.2006 91
Kechau Tui, Lipis                           expiring             sq.ft.
Pahang Darul Makmur                20.12.2105

Lot 29, Kawasan Perindustrian       Lease           304,484         Industrial land                             419         20.12.2006 91
Kechau Tui, Lipis                           expiring             sq.ft.
Pahang Darul Makmur                20.12.2105

Lot 30, Kawasan Perindustrian       Lease           281,398         Industrial land                             387         20.12.2006 91
Kechau Tui, Lipis                           expiring             sq.ft.
Pahang Darul Makmur                20.12.2105



122 MIECO CH IPBOARD  BERHAD A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 01 4

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Forty-Second Annual General Meeting (“42nd AGM”) of Mieco Chipboard
Berhad (“MIECO” or “the Company”) will be held at Dewan Berjaya, Bukit Kiara Equestrian & Country Resort, Jalan
Bukit Kiara, Off Jalan Damansara, 60000 Kuala Lumpur on Thursday, 25 June 2015 at 10.00 a.m.

AGENDA

(1) To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31
December 2014 and the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.

(2) To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of RM108,000.00 for the financial year
ended 31 December 2014 (2013 : RM100,685.00).

(3) To re-elect Mr Low Kim Seng who retires pursuant to Article 81 of the Company’s
Articles of Association.

(4) To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolution: 
“THAT Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri Mohamed Daud Bin Abu Bakar, retiring pursuant to
Section 129 of the Companies Act 1965, be and is hereby re-appointed a Director
of the Company to hold office until conclusion of the next annual general meeting.”

(5) To appoint Messrs Deloitte as Auditors of the Company in place of the retiring
Auditors, Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers for the financial year ending 31
December 2015 and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS:
To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions:

(6) Retention Of Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri Mohamed Daud Bin Abu Bakar As Independent
Non-Executive Director
“THAT subject to the passing of Ordinary Resolution 4, Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri
Mohamed Daud Bin Abu Bakar be retained as an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company.”

(7) Retention Of Dato’ Dr Amarjit Singh A/L Santokh Singh As Independent Non-
Executive Director
“THAT Dato’ Dr Amarjit Singh A/L Santokh Singh be retained as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company.”

(8) To transact any other business for which due notice shall have been given in
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and the Companies Act
1965.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD
HO SWEE LING
YAP CHOON FON
Company Secretaries
Kuala Lumpur
29 May 2015

(Resolution 1)

(Resolution 2)

(Resolution 3)

(Resolution 4)

(Resolution 5)

(Resolution 6)

(Resolution 7)
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Notes:

(a) Only depositors whose names appear in the Record of Depositors on 17 June 2015 (General Meeting Record of Depositors)
be regarded as members and entitled to attend, speak and vote at this 42nd AGM. 

(b) A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act 1965
shall not apply to the Company.

(c) A member who is an authorised nominee may appoint one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary
shares of the Company standing to the credit of the said securities account. Where a member of the Company is an exempt
authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991 which holds ordinary shares in
the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of
proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds. A member other than
an authorised nominee shall be entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the same meeting.

(d) Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his
holdings to be represented by each proxy.

(e) If the appointor is a corporation, the form of proxy must be executed under its Common Seal or under the hand of an officer
or attorney duly authorised.

(f) To be valid, the duly completed original form of proxy must be deposited at the office of the Share Registrar, Metra Management
Sdn Bhd at 30.02, 30th Floor, Menara Multi-Purpose, Capital Square, No. 8 Jalan Munshi Abdullah, 50100 Kuala Lumpur, not
less than 48 hours before the time for holding the meeting. Fax copies of the duly executed form of proxy are not acceptable.

EXPLANATORY NOTES 

Ordinary Resolution 5
The Notice of Nomination from a Member pursuant to Section 172(11) of the Companies Act 1965, a copy of which is annexed
hereto, has been received by the Company for the nomination of Messrs Deloitte, who have given their consent to act, for appointment
as Auditors.

Ordinary Resolutions 6 and 7
In respect of the proposed Ordinary Resolutions 6 and 7, the Board has assessed the independence of Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri
Mohamed Daud Bin Abu Bakar and Dato’ Dr Amarjit Singh A/L Santokh Singh, who have served as Independent Non-Executive
Directors of the Company for a cumulative term of more than nine (9) years, and recommended them to continue to act as
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company based on the following justifications: 

(i) they continue to fulfil the criteria under the definition of Independent Director as stated in the Main Market Listing Requirements
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad; 

(ii) they remain objective and independent in expressing their views in participating deliberations and decision making of the
Board;

(iii) they have exercised due care and diligence during their tenure as Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company and
carried out their fiduciary duties in the interest of the Company and shareholders.

At the last annual general meeting held in 2014, the shareholders of the Company had approved the retention of Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’
Seri Mohamed Daud Bin Abu Bakar and Dato’ Dr Amarjit Singh A/L Santokh Singh as Independent Non-Executive Directors of the
Company.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (Cont’d)  
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (Cont’d)  

Annexure

23 April 2015

The Board of Directors
Mieco Chipboard Berhad
Level 11 Menara BRDB
285 Jalan Maarof
Bukit Bandaraya
59000 Kuala Lumpur

Dear Sirs

Notice Of Nomination Of Messrs Deloitte For Appointment As Auditors

Pursuant to Section 172(11) of the Companies Act 1965, we being a member of Mieco Chipboard Berhad, hereby
give notice of our intention to nominate Messrs Deloitte for appointment as Auditors of the Company to replace the
retiring auditors, Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers and to propose the following as an ordinary resolution to be tabled
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company:

“That Messrs Deloitte be appointed as Auditors of the Company in place of the retiring Auditors, Messrs
PricewaterhouseCoopers for the financial year ending 31 December 2015 and that the Directors be authorised to fix
their remuneration.”

Yours faithfully
for BRDB DEVELOPMENTS SDN BHD

KRISHAN A/L PERIYASAMY
Director

BRDB Developments Sdn Bhd (5521-A)
(formely known as Bandar Raya Developments Sdn Bhd)
GST No. 001379893248

Level 11 Menara BRDB
285 Jalan Maarof, Bukit Bandaraya
59000 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

T +603 2688 2888
F +603 2284 3988
W www.brdb.com.my
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FORM OF PROXY

I/We Tel. No.      

(FULL NAME IN BLOCK CAPITALS) 

NRIC No./Company No.                                                                                  of 

(ADDRESS)

being a Member of MIECO CHIPBOARD BERHAD, hereby appoint                         

NRIC No.  

(FULL NAME IN BLOCK CAPITALS)

of  

(ADDRESS)

or failing him,                                                                                          NRIC No. 

(FULL NAME IN BLOCK CAPITALS)

of 

(ADDRESS)

the CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING as my/our proxy to vote on my/our behalf at the Forty-Second Annual General Meeting of the
Company to be held at Dewan Berjaya, Bukit Kiara Equestrian & Country Resort, Jalan Bukit Kiara, Off Jalan Damansara, 60000
Kuala Lumpur on Thursday, 25 June 2015 at 10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

RESOLUTIONS *FOR *AGAINST

(1) To receive the audited financial statements

(2) To approve the payment of Directors’ fees

(3) To re-elect Mr Low Kim Seng as Director

(4) To re-appoint Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri Mohamed Daud Bin Abu Bakar as Director 

(5) To appoint Messrs Deloitte as auditors of the Company

(6) To approve retention of Lt. Gen. (R) Dato’ Seri Mohamed Daud Bin Abu Bakar 
as Independent Non-Executive Director

(7) To approve retention of Dato’ Dr Amarjit Singh A/L Santokh Singh 
as Independent Non-Executive Director 

* Please indicate with an “X” how you wish your vote to be cast. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will
vote or abstain at his discretion.

As witness my/our hand(s) this _______ day of ______________, 2015.

______________________________
Signature Of Member

For appointment of two (2) proxies, percentage of
shareholdings to be represented by the two (2)
proxies 

No. Of Shares Percentage

Proxy 1

Proxy 2

Total 100

Number Of Shares Held

Notes:

(a) A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and the provisions of Section 149(1)(b) of the Companies Act 1965 shall not apply to the Company.
(b) A member who is an authorised nominee may appoint one (1) proxy in respect of each securities account it holds with ordinary shares of the Company

standing to the credit of the said securities account. Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee as defined under the Securities
Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991 which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus
account”), there is no limit to the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it holds. A member
other than an authorised nominee shall be entitled to appoint not more than two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the same meeting.

(c) Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportions of his holdings to be represented by
each proxy.

(d) If the appointor is a corporation, the form of proxy must be executed under its Common Seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.
(e) Any alteration made in the form of proxy must be initialled.
(f) To be valid, the duly completed original form of proxy must be deposited at the office of the Share Registrar, Metra Management Sdn Bhd at 30.02, 30th

Floor, Menara Multi-Purpose, Capital Square, No. 8 Jalan Munshi Abdullah, 50100 Kuala Lumpur, not less than 48 hours before the time for holding the
meeting. Fax copies of the duly executed form of proxy are not acceptable.

CDS ACCOUNT NO.

or failing him,

MIECO CHIPBOARD BERHAD (12849-K)

(Incorporated in Malaysia)



Please fold here

Please fold here

Please fold here

Stamp

To: Share Registar
Metra Management Sdn Bhd
30.02, 30th Floor
Menara Multi-Purpose, Capital Square
No. 8 Jalan Munshi Abdullah
50100 Kuala Lumpur




